SARJA - SER. A I OSA - TOM. 423 ASTRONOMICA - CHEMICA - PHYSICA - MATHEMATICA

# LEPTOGENESIS AS THE ORIGIN OF MATTER-ANTIMATTER ASYMMETRY IN EXTRA DIMENSIONAL AND SUPERSYMMETRIC MODELS

by

Heidi Kuismanen

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2011

#### From

Department of Physics and Astronomy University of Turku Finland

Supervised by Iiro Vilja University lecturer Department of Physics and Astronomy University of Turku Finland

#### Reviewed by

Kari Enqvist	Kimmo Kainulainen
Professor of cosmology	Lecturer
Department of Physics	Department of Physics
University of Helsinki	University of Jyväskylä
Finland	Finland

#### Opponent

Martti Raidal Academy Professor National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics Tallinn Estonia

ISBN 978-951-29-4696-9 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-4697-6 (PDF) ISSN 0082-7002 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2011

## Acknowledgments

The work for my PhD was performed and completed at the Department of physics and astronomy at the University of Turku. I would like to thank my supervisor doc. Iiro Vilja for suggesting this interesting topic for my doctoral thesis. I value his help and patience during the project. I also wish to thank prof. Jukka Maalampi and M.Sc. Juho Pelto for collaborating with me on the research articles. The setting for doing research at the Laboratory of Theoretical Physics has been inspiring and welcoming over the years and for that I thank my fellow students and colleagues.

I wish to thank the pre-examiners prof. Kari Enquist and doc. Kimmo Kainulainen for giving me useful comments on how to improve the manuscript. I also thank Academy Professor Martti Raidal for agreeing to act as my opponent.

I gratefully acknowledge the financial support given by the Magnus Ehrnrooth Foundation, the Finnish Academy of Science and Letters (Väisälä fund) and the Finnish Cultural Foundation.

Last, but not least, I thank my family and especially my mother for always supporting me and encouraging me to the best that I could be. I thank my husband Timo for his love, for being my safe haven and for having unwavering faith in my abilities and in my work no matter what.

# Contents

A	cknov	wledgr	nents	3
A	bstra	ct		7
Li	st of	public	cations	9
1	Intr	oduct	ion	11
<b>2</b>	The	e early	universe and matter-antimatter asymmetry	15
	2.1	Stand	ard cosmological model	15
		2.1.1	Friedmann-Robertson-Walker universe	16
		2.1.2	Inflation	18
		2.1.3	Hot Big Bang	20
	2.2	Sakha	rov conditions	23
		2.2.1	B + L violation in the Standard Model	24
		2.2.2	The dependence between baryon and lepton numbers	26
	2.3	Variou	s mechanisms of baryogenesis	27
		2.3.1	Electroweak baryogenesis	27
		2.3.2	GUT baryogenesis	28
		2.3.3	Affleck-Dine baryogenesis	28
		2.3.4	Baryogenesis via leptogenesis	29
3	The	rmal l	eptogenesis	33
	3.1	Massi	ve neutrinos	33
		3.1.1	Neutrinos in the Standard Model	33
		3.1.2	Heavy singlet neutrinos beyond SM and the seesaw	
			mechanism	37

		3.1.3	Neutrino oscillations and experiments	39
	3.2	CP vi	iolation and leptogenesis	41
		3.2.1	Boltzmann equations	43
	3.3	Quasi	degenerate heavy neutrinos and resonant leptogenesis	46
<b>4</b>	Lep	togene	esis in models with flat extra dimensions	49
	4.1	Large	extra dimensions	50
		4.1.1	The hierarchy problem	50
		4.1.2	The Arkani-Hamed-Dimopoulos-Dvali model	50
		4.1.3	Observation of large extra dimensions	51
	4.2	Brane	-bulk models	53
		4.2.1	Localization of fermions inside fat branes	55
		4.2.2	Neutrinos in brane-bulk models	56
	4.3	Lepto	genesis from bulk neutrinos in a split fermion scenario	57
		4.3.1	The effective model	58
		4.3.2	CP violation	59
		4.3.3	Monte Carlo and parameter regions	61
		4.3.4	Conclusions	62
5	Lep	togene	esis in supersymmetric models	63
	$5.1^{-1}$	Unbroken supersymmetry and leptogenesis		64
		5.1.1	Supersymmetric Lagrangian and scalar potential	64
		5.1.2	Minimal Supersymmetric SM	65
		5.1.3	MSSM extended with right-handed neutrinos	66
	5.2 Supersymmetry breaking and leptogenesis		symmetry breaking and leptogenesis	67
		5.2.1	Soft supersymmetry breaking	68
		5.2.2	Soft leptogenesis	68
	5.3	Lepto	genesis from sneutrino-antisneutrino	
		asymr	- netry	69
		5.3.1	The model with MSSM Higgs sector	70
		5.3.2	New source for $CP$ violation $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	72
		5.3.3	Conclusions	73
6	Sur	nmary	and outlook	75

### Abstract

The Standard Model of particle physics is currently the best description of fundamental particles and their interactions. All particles save the Higgs boson have been observed in particle accelerator experiments over the years. Despite the predictive power the Standard Model there are many phenomena that the scenario does not predict or explain. Among the most prominent dilemmas is matter-antimatter asymmetry, and much effort has been made in formulating scenarios that accurately predict the correct amount of matter-antimatter asymmetry in the universe. One of the most appealing explanations is baryogenesis via leptogenesis which not only serves as a mechanism of producing excess matter over antimatter but can also explain why neutrinos have very small non-zero masses.

Interesting leptogenesis scenarios arise when other possible candidates of theories beyond the Standard Model are brought into the picture. In this thesis, we have studied leptogenesis in an extra dimensional framework and in a modified version of supersymmetric Standard Model. The first chapters of this thesis introduce the standard cosmological model, observations made on the photon to baryon ratio and necessary preconditions for successful baryogenesis. Baryogenesis via leptogenesis is then introduced and its connection to neutrino physics is illuminated. The final chapters concentrate on extra dimensional theories and supersymmetric models and their ability to accommodate leptogenesis. There, the results of our research are also presented.

## List of publications

This PhD thesis is based on the research articles [1, 2, 3]:

- I J. Maalampi, I. Vilja and H. Virtanen, *Thermal leptogenesis in a 5D* split fermion scenario with bulk neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D82, 013009 (2010).
- II H. Kuismanen, J. Maalampi and I. Vilja, Numerical study of leptogenesis in a 5D split fermion model with bulk neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D83, 053005 (2011).
- III H. Kuismanen, J. Pelto and I. Vilja, Leptogenesis in B-L gauged SUSY with MSSM Higgs sector, Phys. Rev. D83, 055001 (2011).

### Chapter 1

### Introduction

Our observable universe is described by the interplay between the large scales governed by general relativity and microscopic scales that are described by the Standard Model (SM) of particle physics. These two seemingly disparate realms came together 13.7 billion years ago in the Big Bang that gave birth to the universe. While to this date the fundamental theory of the very early universe remains a mystery also the current composition of the universe is a puzzle. Observations relying on the standard cosmological model show that 5 % of the energy density of the universe consists of baryonic matter while the rest of the energy density consists of dark matter and dark energy whose origin and composition are currently unknown. Baryonic matter is ordinary visible matter made up of nucleons but the SM does not explain its origin or its abundance.

According to the SM, equal amounts of particles and antiparticles should have been generated in the early universe. A particle and its antiparticle are equal in mass but have opposite quantum numbers, and upon collision they may annihilate each other producing mainly electromagnetic radiation. Thus, 13.7 billion years ago elementary particles and their antiparticles can be expected to have annihilated, resulting in a universe with only radiation. Yet, we are very much here and are made of baryonic matter, and on larger scales up to tens of Mpc galaxies are thought to consist of matter rather than antimatter [5]. One endeavor that is expected to settle the issue is the ongoing AMS-02 experiment that is designed to look for indications of large antimatter domains. The smoking gun pointing towards the existence of antimatter regions in the universe is the detection of antihelium or larger antinuclei [6].

To explain the matter-antimatter asymmetry of the universe we need to go beyond the SM. Extensions of the SM materialized in Grand Unified Theories (GUT) that were first proposed in the 1970s. They unify electromagnetic, weak and strong interactions and allow for baryogenesis. The hint towards theories beyond the SM followed in this thesis comes from neutrino physics and a mechanism of generating baryon asymmetry via lepton asymmetry. This is known as baryogenesis via leptogenesis [7]. The driving force behind leptogenesis is that somehow in the early universe a net lepton number was produced and this asymmetry is further converted to the baryon asymmetry we observe today.

The SM is widely considered to be an effective theory description of elementary particles and interactions so that at higher energy scales some fundamental theory takes over. This fundamental theory would explain the fermion masses and mixings, provide a solution to the strong CP problem, and on more aesthetic grounds possibly unify all four interactions and remove the need of fine tuning which comes about because of the wide gap between the electroweak and gravity scales. Leptogenesis on its own introduces extensions to the SM, but among the best known candidates for a fundamental theory are supersymmetric version of the SM [8] and superstrings [9]. The former doubles the particle content of the SM by relating each fermionic particle with a bosonic partner and vice versa. It modifies the SM in such a way that the three interactions, electromagnetic, weak and color interactions become equal in strength at an energy scale far beyond the realm of the SM. Superstring theories have supersymmetry built in them and they postulate that the fundamental building blocks of the universe are one-dimensional strings instead of point particles. These scenarios can incorporate all four interactions, namely a consistent description of gravity as well as the three interactions of the SM can be obtained. One peculiar feature of string theories is that they require several additional dimensions besides the four spacetime dimensions we are used to. One ramification of string theories is that these extra dimensions could be as large as the millimeter scale and thus observable to us.

The objective of this thesis is to find ways how leptogenesis can be accommodated with the other two possible extensions of the SM, namely supersymmetric and extra dimensional models. The research articles [1] and [2] both consider an extra dimensional model that has a mechanism of generating lepton asymmetry. While article [1] concentrates on the particle structure and inherent leptogenesis mechanism of the model, article [2] explores the parameter space which enables leptogenesis in the first place. Paper [3] contemplates a supersymmetric model that can generate lepton asymmetry through an intermediate step before giving rise to the conventional supersymmetric version of leptogenesis.

The structure of this thesis is as follows: Chapter 2 gives a general introduction to the currently known early stages of the universe with emphasis on the generation of matter-antimatter asymmetry. Chapter 3 introduces leptogenesis and also the connection between leptogenesis and neutrino masses. Chapter 4 presents extra dimensional theories and the research done in papers [1] and [2]. Supersymmetry and supersymmetric leptogenesis is considered in chapter 5 where also the research of paper [3] is discussed. Finally, chapter 6 summarizes the topics covered and presents some interesting prospects for leptogenesis.

#### Notation

Natural units  $\hbar = c = k_B = 1$  are used throughout the thesis.

### Chapter 2

# The early universe and matter-antimatter asymmetry

The basic setup of cosmology is based on the homogeneous, isotropic and expanding universe while particles and their interactions are described by the SM. In this chapter, the evolutionary stages of the early universe with emphasis on the generation of net baryon number are outlined. In section 2.1 the standard cosmological model is presented, section 2.2 showcases the premises of generating net baryon number and section 2.3 reviews several mechanisms of baryogenesis.

#### 2.1 Standard cosmological model

The cornerstones of the standard cosmological model are Einstein's theory of General Relativity and the SM that determines how the building blocks of matter were formed. Important clues about the dynamics of the universe came from observations made by Edwin Hubble in 1929 [13]. His observations suggest that the universe is expanding as galaxies seem to be receding away from us. This notion makes a compelling case for the fact that the universe has been hotter and denser in the past, which implies that space and time were born in a so called Big Bang.

Another essential ingredient originates from the discovery of Penzias and Wilson [14]. They observed the redshifted Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) radiation which is an echo from the early universe when it was a few hundred thousand years old. CMB is a perfect fit to the blackbody spectrum with temperature T = 2.725 K and anisotropies  $\sim 10^{-5}$  [15].

The final component completing the picture concerns the large scale structure of the universe. The Sloan Digital Sky Survey [16] and 2dF [17] are mappings of the large scale structure and they confirm the universe is isotropic, *i.e.* it looks the same from all directions, at scales larger than 100 Mpc.

#### 2.1.1 Friedmann-Robertson-Walker universe

The Friedmann-Robertson-Walker (FRW) universe is homogeneous and isotropic, *i.e.* the energy density is uniform and the universe looks the same from all angles at large scales. It is also a description of an expanding universe.

#### The Robertson-Walker metric and Einstein equations

The Robertson-Walker (RW) metric is

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a(t)^{2} \left( \frac{dr^{2}}{1 - Kr^{2}} + r^{2}d\theta^{2} + r^{2}\sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2} \right).$$
(2.1)

Here, r,  $\theta$  and  $\phi$  are polar comoving coordinates while K measures the spatial curvature and a(t) is the scale factor. The metric enters the Einstein equation

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} R g_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G T_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.2)$$

that determines the dynamics. Newton's gravitational constant is denoted by G. The left hand side of (2.2) depends on the metric while the right hand side describes the matter content. The energy-momentum tensor must contain the same symmetries as the metric, which gives the perfect fluid form for the energy-momentum

$$T_{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p)u_{\mu}u_{\nu} + pg_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (2.3)

Here,  $\rho$  and p denote energy density and pressure, respectively, with  $u^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0)$  as the four velocity of the fluid in comoving coordinates.

#### The Friedmann equations

The Einstein equation (2.2) describes the evolution of the scale factor in terms of  $\rho$  and p of the cosmic fluid. By invoking (2.1), (2.2) and (2.3) we obtain for the 00-component

$$H^2 = \frac{8\pi G}{3}\rho - \frac{K}{a^2},$$
 (2.4)

where the Hubble parameter  $H = \dot{a}/a$ . The spatial component of the Einstein equation gives

$$\frac{\ddot{a}}{a} = -\frac{4\pi G}{3}(\rho + 3p).$$
 (2.5)

Equations (2.4) and (2.5) are called the Friedmann equations.

The energy continuity equation can be derived from the Friedmann equations and it reads

$$\dot{\rho} = -3(\rho + p)\frac{\dot{a}}{a}.\tag{2.6}$$

Rewriting (2.4) as

$$\rho = \rho_c + \frac{3K}{8\pi Ga^2} \tag{2.7}$$

introduces the critical density  $\rho_c \equiv 3H^2/(8\pi G)$ . The relation between the energy density  $\rho$  and  $\rho_c$  also determines the nature of the curvature

$$\rho < \rho_c \Rightarrow K < 0$$

$$\rho = \rho_c \Rightarrow K = 0$$

$$\rho > \rho_c \Rightarrow K > 0.$$
(2.8)

By defining the density parameter  $\Omega(t)$  as

$$\Omega(t) \equiv \frac{\rho(t)}{\rho_c(t)} \tag{2.9}$$

we can rewrite (2.4) yet in another form

$$\Omega(t) = 1 + \frac{K}{H^2 a^2}.$$
(2.10)

In solving (2.6) we need to consider different alternatives for the equation of state  $p(\rho)$ . The cases that arise are

- Matter refers to nonrelativistic matter consisting of particles with velocities  $v \ll 1$  and  $p \ll \rho$ . Thus, we can approximate  $p \approx 0$ , which yields  $\rho \propto a^{-3}$ .
- Radiation refers to ultrarelativistic particles whose rest masses are much smaller than the particle energy. For ultrarelativistic particles  $p = \rho/3$  that upon insertion into (2.6) gives  $\rho \propto a^{-4}$ .
- Vacuum energy has constant energy density,  $\rho = constant$ , and (2.6) gives the equation of state  $p = -\rho$ .

Based on the scale factor dependences of the different energy density components we can deduce that the early universe was radiation-dominated. As the scale factor a grows with time, the other components (matter, curvature and radiation) begin to dominate.

#### 2.1.2 Inflation

There are various problems in the Big Bang model (next subsection). First, the CMB anisotropies are very small in magnitude  $\sim 10^{-5}$  [15] and they are correlated at all scales. However, at the time of last scattering, *i.e.* when the photons decouple from matter, there were regions that did not have a causal connection. This is known as the horizon problem [18]. Second, there is a spatial flatness problem in the universe [18]. To demonstrate this we have written (2.4) in the form

$$\Omega - 1 = \frac{K}{a^2 H^2}.$$
 (2.11)

In the ACDM model, the present day density parameter is very close to one,  $|\Omega(t_0) - 1| \leq 10^{-2}$ . At the time of Big Bang nucleosynthesis (BBN, reviewed in the next subsection)  $|\Omega(t_{\text{BBN}}) - 1| \leq 10^{-17}$ , which indicates strong fine tuning. Finally, the relic problem deals with theories beyond SM. Phase transitions in GUTs can produce magnetic monopoles, cosmic strings and domain walls. The energy density would thus receive additional contributions that are much higher than the observed energy density. What could remedy all these problems related to causal connection, spatial flatness, structure formation [19] and relics is inflation [20, 21], a period of accelerated expansion of the universe prior to the Hot Big Bang. The definition of inflation is an era of accelerated expansion of the universe. The rate of increase of the scale factor is increasing which means  $\ddot{a} > 0$  or equivalently

$$\frac{d}{dt}\frac{1}{aH} < 0. \tag{2.12}$$

This shows that the comoving Hubble length decreases with time bringing more regions into causal connection. As for the flatness problem, it can be seen from equation (2.11) that with inflation the density parameter  $\Omega(t)$  is driven towards 1.

During inflation the energy density is dominated by a scalar field  $\varphi$ , the inflaton, that can have negative pressure,  $p = w\rho$ , w < 0. The so called slow roll approximation states that  $\frac{1}{2}\dot{\varphi}^2 \ll V(\varphi)$  so it is in fact the potential  $V(\varphi)$  term that dominates the energy density. Initially,  $\varphi$  is far from the minimum of  $V(\varphi)$ . Gradually  $\varphi$  is being pulled towards the minimum by the potential. The amount of inflation can be measured by

$$N(t) \equiv \ln \frac{a(t_{\rm end})}{a(t)} \tag{2.13}$$

which tells us how much the scale factor has grown by the end of inflation.

After inflation, the inflaton field begins to oscillate at the bottom of the potential  $V(\varphi)$  and the energy stored in the inflaton potential  $V(\varphi)$  is transferred to particles which become thermalized. This process is called reheating which is responsible for the particle content of the universe in the subsequent Hot Big Bang. The allowed range for the reheating temperature is  $10^{-2}$ GeV  $< T_R < 10^{16}$ GeV where the lower limit is set by Big Bang nucleosynthesis and upper limit by GUTs [19].

Inflation combined with supersymmetric models places more restrictions to the reheating temperature. These models contain the supersymmetric partner of the graviton, the gravitino. The overproduction of gravitinos during reheating would destroy the predictions of BBN by the decay of gravitinos via the gravitational interaction after BBN. Thus, to avoid the production of unwanted relics in supersymmetric theories the reheating temperature  $T_R$  should satisfy  $T_R \lesssim 10^7$  GeV [22].

#### 2.1.3 Hot Big Bang

The early universe is radiation-dominated and particle reaction rates keep up with the expansion of the universe. Thus, different particle species remain in thermal equilibrium. As the universe expands, it becomes harder to maintain sufficient reaction rates. With falling temperature the photon energies decrease and particle-antiparticle generation becomes energetically impossible. One after another particles and antiparticles annihilate. In the following a brief description of each annihilation process and subsequent stable matter formation is given.

#### Thermal history

After electroweak (EW) phase transition at temperature  $T \sim 100$  GeV the universe undergoes the following stages

- t quarks annihilate at temperature  $T \simeq 100 \text{ GeV}$
- Higgs boson and electroweak gauge bosons  $W^{\pm}$  and Z annihilate at temperatures  $T{<}80$  GeV.
- At  $T \sim 10$  GeV the b and c quarks undergo annihilation, followed by the heaviest lepton,  $\tau$ .
- QCD phase transition takes place at  $T \sim 150$  MeV.
- pions and muons annihilate at temperature  $T \sim 100$  MeV.
- At temperature  $T \sim 1$  MeV neutrinos decouple and electron and positrons annihilate, and an excess of electrons remains.

During QCD phase transition quark-gluon interactions become important and quarks form bound states with the gluons. Three-quark systems are baryons and the lightest of these are the proton and neutron. Quarkantiquark pairs are called mesons out of which the lightest are pions,  $\pi^{\pm}$ and  $\pi^{0}$ .

#### **Big Bang Nucleosynthesis**

After the QCD phase transition nucleons and antinucleons annihilate each other and a small excess of nucleons remain. In the process of Big Bang Nucleosynthesis (BBN) these nucleons combine to form nuclei of the lightest elements in practice up to lithium. Due to the neutrino decoupling weak interactions needed to keep the proton-neutron-proton conversion going become less efficient and consequently neutrons decay into protons. This starts to happen at  $T \sim 1$  MeV. As the decay reactions take place gradually, a portion of neutrons can combine with protons to form deuterium. This process is however hindered by the presence of a large number of photons w.r.t. baryons, and high-energy photons constantly break nuclei. Thus, the binding energy 2.2 MeV for deuterium is easily overcome until the temperature drops to T = 0.06 MeV. After a sufficient amount of deuterium is produced heavier nuclei are formed in secondary reactions. The most stable of these nuclei is <sup>4</sup>He.

The baryon number of the universe resides in the newly formed nuclei and the observed baryon-photon ratio  $\eta \equiv n_B/n_{\gamma}$  in the universe is [23]

$$5.1 \times 10^{-10} < \frac{n_B}{n_\gamma} < 6.5 \times 10^{-10}.$$
 (2.14)

A plot of baryon-to-photon ratio versus the abundances of light elements is shown in Fig. 2.1 where observations of light element abundances are presented alongside predictions from nucleosyntehsis.

#### Recombination and photon decoupling

As the temperature falls further, the leftover electrons and nuclei form neutral atoms (recombination), which causes the density of free electrons to fall. Photons have less and less electrons to interact with and so the photon mean free path rapidly grows and exceeds the horizon distance. Photons decouple from matter and the universe becomes transparent at  $t = 380\ 000$  years. These decoupled photons form the CMB and their temperature today is  $T_0 = 2.725\ \text{K}$ .

#### Baryon and lepton number

We have given brief descriptions of the various stages in the early universe. After nucleon and electron annihilation processes a small excess of matter particles has remained; this has undergone recombination to form light elements up to lithium. The SM cannot explain the observed excess of



Figure 2.1: Picture from [23] shows the abundances of <sup>4</sup>He, D, <sup>3</sup>He and <sup>7</sup>Li as predicted by BBN. The bands show the 95 % CL range. Boxes indicate the observed light element abundances (smaller boxes:  $\pm 2\sigma$  statistical errors; larger boxes:  $\pm 2\sigma$  statistical and systematic errors). The narrow vertical band indicates the CMB measure of the cosmic baryon density, while the wider band indicates the BBN concordance range (both at 95 % CL).

baryons over antibaryons. If we assume no asymmetry between baryons and antibaryons at  $T \sim \mathcal{O}(1 \text{ GeV})$ , the annihilation  $B + \bar{B} \rightarrow 2\gamma$  begins to dominate and [24]

$$\frac{n_B}{n_\gamma} = \frac{n_{\bar{B}}}{n_\gamma} \simeq 10^{-18}.$$
(2.15)

Yet, we observe the baryon-to-photon ratio (2.14) and structure in the universe in the form of *e.g.* stars and planets etc. Thus, the question is how should the SM be extended to include the mechanism of generating sufficient matter-antimatter asymmetry.

#### 2.2 Sakharov conditions

Having gone through the crucial steps in the evolution of the early universe we are left with the problem matter-antimatter asymmetry. In 1967 Sakharov discovered three conditions that must be met in a model in order for it to produce net baryon number [25]:

- baryon number B violation
- $\bullet~C$  and CP violation
- departure from thermal equilibrium

Baryon number violating processes can generate net baryon number as opposed to baryon number conservation which would imply that the baryon number observed today dates back to baryon asymmetric initial conditions. Charge C and combined charge and parity CP violation ensure an asymmetry between matter and antimatter and that B violating processes proceed through unequal rates. In thermal equilibrium, inverse processes would wash out any pre-existing asymmetry based on the unitarity of the S matrix and CPT theorem. Thus, departure from thermal equilibrium is required in order to produce an asymmetry  $n_B \neq n_{\bar{B}}$ .

These crucial elements are actually found in the SM. CP violation is present in quark mixing depicted by the Kobayashi-Maskawa mechanism [26]. The Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa (CKM) quark mixing matrix contains one nonvanishing CP violating phase that is responsible for CP violation observed in K and B meson systems [23]. Departure from thermal equilibrium could be provided by the electroweak phase transition in the early universe. B + L can also be violated in the SM and the mechanism is explained below.

#### **2.2.1** B + L violation in the Standard Model

Due to the chiral nature of the non-Abelian weak interactions B and L can be violated by the chiral anomaly [27] above the electroweak phase transition temperature [28]. The SU(2) interacting fermions have global U(1) symmetries [29, 30]

$$\psi_L^i(x) \to e^{i\beta} \psi_L^i(x) \tag{2.16}$$

and the related chiral currents are

$$j^B_{\mu} = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{generations} (\bar{q}_L \gamma_\mu q_L + \bar{u}_R \gamma_\mu u_R + \bar{d}_R \gamma_\mu d_R)$$
(2.17)

$$j_{\mu}^{L} = \sum_{generations} (\bar{\ell}_{L} \gamma_{\mu} \ell_{L} + \bar{e}_{R} \gamma_{\mu} e_{R})$$
(2.18)

are conserved at tree level. In quantum theory the currents become anomalous and non-vanishing [27]

$$\partial^{\mu} j^{B}_{\mu} = \partial^{\mu} j^{L}_{\mu} = \frac{N_{f}}{32\pi^{2}} (-g^{2} W^{I}_{\mu\nu} \tilde{W}^{I\mu\nu} + g^{\prime 2} B_{\mu\nu} \tilde{B}^{\mu\nu}).$$
(2.19)

The number of generations is denoted by  $N_f$ , and  $W^I_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$  are the  $SU(2)_L$  and  $U(1)_Y$  gauge fields with couplings g and g', respectively. The change in the topological charge of the gauge field is then [27]

$$B(t_f) - B(t_i) = \int_{t_i}^{t_f} dt \int d^3x \partial^\mu j^B_\mu = N_f (N_{cs}(t_f) - N_{cs}(t_i)), \quad (2.20)$$

where

$$N_{cs}(t) = \frac{g^3}{96\pi^2} \int d^3x \varepsilon_{ijk} \varepsilon^{IJK} W^{Ij} W^{Jj} W^{Kk}.$$
 (2.21)

is the Chern-Simons number.

An infinite number of degenerate ground states exist and they differ in their Chern-Simons numbers,  $\Delta N_{cs} = \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots$  These points in field

space are separated by a potential barrier, Fig. 2.2. At zero temperature, gauge field configurations that correspond to nonvanishing charges (2.20) are tunneling configurations, instantons [31]. Transitions between different vacua are proportional to the Chern-Simons number and the number of families (2.20) and these are related to changes in baryon and lepton number

$$\Delta B = \Delta L = N_f \Delta N_{cs}. \tag{2.22}$$

Since the number of families in the SM is 3, the smallest jumps between vacua are  $\Delta B = \Delta L = \pm 3$ , and B + L is violated whereas B - L is not. However, at zero temperature, the transition rate between vacua is very small [27]

$$\Gamma \sim e^{-S_{\rm int}} \sim \mathcal{O}(10^{-165}) \tag{2.23}$$

and so B + L violation does not occur in the SM in considerable amounts.



Figure 2.2: The picture is from [32]. The graph depicts the energy of the field configuration as a function of  $N_{cs}$ .

At nonzero temperature, the situation changes and transitions between vacua can occur by thermal fluctuations over the potential barrier rather than tunneling alone [28]. The transition rate is determined by the sphaleron configuration which is a saddle point of the field energy of the gauge-Higgs system [33], Fig. 2.2. The sphaleron energy is thus the height of the potential barrier between different vacua, Fig. 2.2 and it is given by

$$E_{\rm sph}(T) \simeq \frac{8\pi}{g} v_F(T), \qquad (2.24)$$

where  $v_F(T)$  is the finite temperature vacuum expectation value (VEV) of the Higgs field. At temperatures

$$T_{\rm EW} \sim 100 \ {\rm GeV} < T < T_{\rm sph} \sim 10^{12} \ {\rm GeV}$$
 (2.25)

the sphaleron processes are in thermal equilibirum and the suppression from the sphaleron rate is removed. The rate in the unbroken phase is given by [34]

$$\frac{\Gamma_{B+L}}{V} \sim \alpha^5 (\ln \alpha^{-1}) T^4, \qquad (2.26)$$

where  $\alpha = g^2/(4\pi)$  while a more detailed expression is given by [35]

$$\frac{\Gamma_{B+L}}{V} = (10.8 \pm 0.7) \left(\frac{gT}{m_D}\right)^2 \alpha^5 T^4 \left[\ln\left(\frac{m_D}{\gamma}\right) + 3.041 + \left(\frac{1}{\ln(1/g)}\right)\right] (2.27)$$

with the Debye length  $m_D \sim gT$  and hard gauge boson damping rate  $\gamma \sim g^2 T \ln(1/g)$ . Below the critical temperature  $T_c$  of electroweak phase transition the Higgs field acquires a VEV and the sphaleron rate per unit volume is [36]

$$\frac{\Gamma_{B+L}}{V} \simeq \kappa \frac{M_W^7}{(\alpha T)^3} e^{-\beta E_{sph}(T)},\tag{2.28}$$

where  $\beta = 1/T$ ,  $M_W = gv_F(T)/2$  (temperature-dependent W boson mass) and  $\kappa = \text{constant}$ .

#### 2.2.2 The dependence between baryon and lepton numbers

Chemical potentials can be assigned to the SM particles, quarks and leptons and Higgs fields, that exist in the weakly coupled plasma of the early universe. By imposing constraints based on the Yukawa, gauge and nonperturbative sphaleron interactions in thermal equilibrium, relations can be derived between the given chemical potentials [37]. The processes that introduce the constraints are the effective interaction induced by electroweak SU(2) instantons, SU(3) quantum chromodynamics (QCD) instanton processes [38], vanishing of the total hypercharge, Yukawa and gauge interactions are in equilibrium [30, 32]. The results for the baryon and lepton numbers read

$$B = -\frac{4N_f}{3}\mu_l, (2.29)$$

$$L = \frac{14N_f^2 + 9N_f}{6N_f + 3}\mu_l, \qquad (2.30)$$

where  $N_f$  denotes the number of generations and  $\mu_l$  is the chemical potential assigned to individual left-handed leptons. This gives the connection between *B* and *L* [39] in the pure minimal SM:

$$B = c_s(B - L), \qquad (2.31)$$
  

$$L = (c_s - 1)(B - L),$$

where  $c_s = (8N_f + 4)/(22N_f + 13)$ , and (2.31) hold for temperatures much larger than the Higgs VEV,  $v_F \ll T$ .

The relations in (2.31) suggest that B-L violation is needed for producing excess B. Since sphalerons do not violate B-L, the net B-L survives until present day and determines the amount of baryon excess according to (2.31).

#### 2.3 Various mechanisms of baryogenesis

Here a variety of different baryogenesis mechanisms are briefly introduced. The main focus of this thesis is thermal leptogenesis which is the topic of the next chapters.

#### 2.3.1 Electroweak baryogenesis

The electroweak phase transition could have provided the out-of-equilibrium condition given that the transition is first order. However, electroweak baryogenesis in the SM has been ruled out by observations that have set a limit to Higgs mass that is in conflict with electroweak baryogenesis scenarios. Namely, the lower bound for the Higgs mass is  $m_H > 114.4$  GeV [23] and, on the other hand, electroweak baryogenesis requires  $m_H < 45$  GeV [40].

Despite the fact that electroweak baryogenesis does not exist in the SM, several extensions of the SM do contain electroweak baryogenesis. These extensions are cold electroweak baryogenesis [41]-[45], the two-Higgs doublet model and Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model [46].

#### 2.3.2 GUT baryogenesis

GUTs can naturally accommodate the Sakharov conditions. Baryon number violation arises as quarks and leptons live in the same representation of a single group. Within a multiplet, the new gauge bosons carrying color and fractional electric charge can mediate transitions between quarks and leptons thus inducing B violation. CP violation can be generated by numerous complex phases. Finally, the average lifetimes of the heavy gauge bosons and or scalars are long compared to the age of the universe at the early epoch. Thus, the out-of-equilibrium condition is met.

Problems with GUT baryogenesis stem from possible relic production and difficulties in testing the models due to the high energy scale  $M_{GUT} \sim 10^{16}$  GeV. Also, there must be sufficient B-L produced prior to the onset of sphaleron transitions that violate B+L but conserve B-L. Otherwise, any baryon excess will be erased by sphalerons. A candidate group that enables B-L violation is SO(10) that contains the gauged subgroup  $U(1)_{B-L}$ [47, 48].

#### 2.3.3 Affleck-Dine baryogenesis

In this scenario [49]-[52] scalar condensates with baryonic charge in the early universe can decay and produce net baryon number. The scalar field is a combination of flat directions of the scalar potential of some supersymmetric model and so the potential is virtually independent of this particular field. These scalar fields, *e.g.* scalar quarks, develop large VEVs during inflation and after inflation they can store baryon and lepton number. When the expansion rate of the universe becomes comparable to the scalar field masses, the flat directions start to oscillate around the minimum of the potential. Eventually, the scalar fields decay to SM particles that carry the B.

#### 2.3.4 Baryogenesis via leptogenesis

Leptogenesis is based on models that produce net lepton number in the early universe and subsequently this lepton number is converted to net baryon number. Many of these models are based on heavy  $SU(3)_c \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ singlet neutrinos that are introduced to SM. These neutrinos have Yukawa couplings to left-handed SM neutrinos, which induces nonzero masses for SM neutrinos. The right-handed neutrinos can also decay to SM leptons and Higgs doublet in the out-of-equilibrium decays in the expanding early universe. The resulting net lepton number can then be converted to baryon number in electroweak sphaleron transitions. This is thermal leptogenesis and the subject of next chapters. Here, we give brief descriptions of nonthermal leptogenesis scenarios.

#### From inflaton decays

The obvious constraint between the reheating temperature and the right handed neutrino mass,  $M_R \leq T_R$  can be lifted if the primordial right-handed neutrinos are produced non-thermally. One possible production channel is inflaton decay [53]. The inflaton can decay to the lightest right-handed neutrino, which subsequently decays into  $H^{\dagger} + l_L$  and  $H + l_L^{\dagger}$ . The two channels have different rates, which generates CP violation that translates into lepton number that is given by [54]

$$\frac{n_L}{s} \simeq -\frac{3}{2} \varepsilon \frac{T_R}{m_{\Phi}}$$
$$\simeq 3 \times 10^{-10} \left( \frac{T_R}{10^6 \text{GeV}} \right) \left( \frac{M_1}{m_{\Phi}} \right) \left( \frac{m_3}{0.05 \text{eV}} \right), \qquad (2.32)$$

where  $m_{\Phi}$  is the inflaton mass and the *CP* violating phase  $\delta_{\text{eff}} = 1$  in

$$\varepsilon \simeq -2 \times 10^{-6} \left(\frac{M_1}{10^{10} \text{GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{m_3}{0.05 \text{eV}}\right) \delta_{\text{eff}}.$$
(2.33)

Sphalerons convert the lepton number to baryon number which is given by [37]

$$\frac{n_B}{s} \simeq -\frac{8}{23} \frac{n_L}{s}.\tag{2.34}$$

The crucial point about generating lepton asymmetry via inflaton decay is that it does not require  $T_R \sim M_{N_1}$  but instead that the inflaton mass has to exceed the masses of two right-handed neutrinos it decays into,  $m_{\Phi} > 2M_{N_1}$ . The lower reheating temperature  $T_R < 10^7$  GeV satisfies the constraint on the gravitino abundance [55], and together with  $m_{\Phi} > 2M_{N_1}$ (2.14) gives a constraint on the heaviest SM neutrino [30]

$$m_3 > 0.01 \text{ eV}.$$
 (2.35)

This constraint agrees well with the results of atmospheric neutrino oscillation experiments, which are described in the next chapter.

#### Affleck-Dine leptogenesis

Affleck-Dine leptogenesis [51, 56, 30] can arise in supersymmetric theories, like Affleck-Dine baryogenesis mentioned earlier. The flat direction is  $\phi \sim (H\ell_i)^{1/2}$ , where H is the Higgs field and  $\ell_i$  is the *i*th lepton doublet. Both Hand  $\ell_i$  represent the scalar components of the corresponding supermultiplet (discussed in chapter 5). Instead of baryon number, the scalar field  $\phi$  can now store lepton number.

The scalar potential for the flat direction can be given, for example, by [50, 56]

$$V_{\rm SUSY} = \frac{m_{\nu}^2}{4|\langle H \rangle|^4} |\phi|^6 \tag{2.36}$$

with diagonal neutrino mass matrix  $m_{\nu}$ . The supersymmetry breaking potential is

$$\delta V = m_{\phi} |\phi|^2 + \frac{m_{\text{SUSY}} m_{\nu}}{8|\langle H \rangle|^2} (a_m \phi^4 + \text{h.c.}), \qquad (2.37)$$

where  $a_m \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $m_{\phi} \simeq m_{\text{SUSY}} \simeq 1$  TeV and  $|a_m| \sim 1$ . The amplitude of  $\psi$  decreases during inflation and starts to oscillate around the minimum of the potential when the Hubble parameter  $H_{\text{exp}}$  becomes comparable to  $m_{\phi}$ . The initial value for the flat direction is  $|\phi_0| \simeq \sqrt{m_{\phi} |\langle H \rangle|^2 / m_{\nu}}$  which sets the initial value for lepton number generation.

The lepton number density obeys

$$\frac{\partial n_L}{\partial t} + 3H_{\exp}n_L = \frac{m_{\rm SUSY}m_\nu}{2|\langle H \rangle|^2} {\rm Im}(a_m^*\phi^{*4}).$$
(2.38)

Lepton number generation commences when the AD field  $\phi$  begins its coherent oscillations at a time  $t_{\rm osc} \simeq H_{\rm osc} \simeq 1/m_{\phi}$  because  $|\phi| \sim t^{-1}$ . Thus,

$$n_L \simeq \frac{m_{\rm SUSY} m_{\nu}}{2 |\langle H \rangle|^2} \delta_{\rm eff} |a_m \phi_0^4| t_{\rm osc}$$
$$\approx \delta_{\rm eff} m_{\phi}^2 \frac{|\langle H \rangle|^2}{2m_{\nu}}, \qquad (2.39)$$

where  $\delta_{\text{eff}} = \sin(4\arg\phi + \arg a_m)$  is the effective CP violating phase. The last line comes from the approximations  $m_{\text{SUSY}} \simeq m_{\phi}$ ,  $|\phi_0| \simeq \sqrt{m_{\phi} |\langle H \rangle|^2 / m_{\nu}}$ and  $t_{\text{osc}} \simeq 1/m_{\phi}$ .

Once the inflaton decays and reheats the universe, the lepton asymmetry becomes

$$\frac{n_L}{s} \simeq \delta_{\text{eff}} \frac{3T_R}{4M_{\text{Pl}}} \frac{|\langle H \rangle|^2}{6m_\nu M_{\text{Pl}}}.$$
(2.40)

Baryon asymmetry arises in sphaleron processes that convert  $n_L/s$  into

$$\frac{n_B}{s} \simeq \frac{1}{23} \frac{|\langle H \rangle|^2 T_R}{m_\nu M_{\rm Pl}^2}.$$
(2.41)

With  $n_B/s \simeq 0.9 \times 10^{-10}$  and  $T_R \simeq 10^6$  GeV, the lightest neutrino mass  $m_{\nu} \simeq 10^{-9}$  eV. In light of neutrino oscillation experiments (described in the next chapter) this limit for the lightest neutrino mass is difficult to reconcile with observations.

### Chapter 3

## Thermal leptogenesis

Many models beyond SM predict superheavy particles that decay to SM particles directly creating an asymmetry between baryons and antibaryons. Another approach is to produce lepton number that can be converted to baryon number. The nonthermal scenarios have been briefly mentioned and the rest of this thesis focuses on thermal leptogenesis.

Thermal leptogenesis scenarios [7, 57] are based on the existence of heavy particles beyond SM that can decay to SM particles much like the GUT based scenarios and have Majorana masses. An exception to this is the Dirac leptogenesis scenario [58]. Much of the attraction around thermal leptogenesis lies in the fact that sufficient baryon number can be produced but also, on the same token, the small yet nonzero SM neutrino masses can be generated.

#### 3.1 Massive neutrinos

#### 3.1.1 Neutrinos in the Standard Model

The electroweak [10] theory of the SM is based on the group  $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ . The group  $SU(2)_L$  is generated by the weak isospin operators  $T^j = \sigma_j/2$ , where  $\sigma_j$  are the Pauli matrices. In order to make  $SU(2)_L$  a local symmetry of the Lagrangian gauge particles must be introduced. There are three of them  $A^1_{\mu}$ ,  $A^2_{\mu}$  and  $A^3_{\mu}$  and they only couple to isodoublet particles, *i.e.* the left-handed particles. The gauge field associated with  $U(1)_Y$  is  $B_{\mu}$ .

SM neutrinos belong to the fundamental representation of  $SU(2)_L$  and

they interact via the weak interaction only. Thus, they are found in the lefthanded isodoublet alongside their electrically charged counterparts,  $e^-$ ,  $\mu^$ and  $\tau^-$ . There are no right-handed neutrinos in the SM. The right-handed charged leptons belong to the isosinglet representation of  $SU(2)_L$  and hence do not couple to the  $SU(2)_L$  gauge fields. The electroweak portion of the SM Lagrangian consisting of the kinetic terms and gauge interaction sector reads

where  $e_R$  denotes the right-handed  $SU(2)_L$  singlet charged leptons and  $l_L$  are the doublets. The covariant derivatives are

$$D_{\mu}\ell_{L} = \left(\partial_{\mu} - igA^{a}_{\mu}T^{a} - ig'\frac{Y}{2}B_{\mu}\right)\ell_{L}, \qquad (3.2)$$

$$D_{\mu}e_{R} = \left(\partial_{\mu} - ig'\frac{Y}{2}B_{\mu}\right)e_{R} \tag{3.3}$$

and the gauge field tensors are

$$B_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}B_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}B_{\mu}, \qquad (3.4)$$

$$F^a_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu A^a - \partial_\nu A^a + g f^{abc} A^b_\mu A^c_\nu.$$
(3.5)

The three gauge fields of the local SU(2) theory,  $A^1_{\mu}$ ,  $A^2_{\mu}$  and  $A^3_{\mu}$  couple only to left-handed SM leptons, and the gauge field associated with local  $U(1)_Y$  couples to all leptons.

Mass terms for the fermions as well as gauge bosons are missing in (3.1). Bare mass terms such as  $m_e(\bar{e}_L e_R + \bar{e}_R e_L)$  cannot be written because lefthanded and right-handed fermions belong to different  $SU(2)_L$  representations and have different  $U(1)_Y$  charges. Thus, these terms would violate global symmetries. By introducing an SU(2) doublet scalar field [11], the Higgs field, with hypercharge Y = 1 and that in the unitary gauge reads as

$$H(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ v+h(x) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.6)

the fermions and bosons one can obtain masses in a gauge invariant fashion. The Higgs field H has a VEV  $v/\sqrt{2}$  while  $\langle h(x) \rangle = 0$ , and this nonzero VEV generates the masses for all SM fermions and electroweak gauge bosons and thus breaks the symmetry group  $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ . The Lagrangian (3.1)

	Т	$T^3$	Y
$e_{L_i}$	1/2	-1/2	-1
$ u_{L_i}$	1/2	1/2	-1
$e_{R_i}$	0	0	-2

Table 3.1: The quantum numbers for SM leptons from electroweak theory.

is now augmented with interactions between the leptons, gauge bosons and the Higgs field

$$\mathcal{L} = i\bar{\ell}_{L}\not{D}\ell_{L} + i\bar{e}_{R}\not{D}e_{R} - f_{i}H^{\dagger}\bar{e}_{iR}\ell_{iL} + \text{h.c.} -\frac{1}{4}F^{a\mu\nu}F^{a}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{4}B^{\mu\nu}B_{\mu\nu} + (D_{\mu}H)^{\dagger}D_{\mu}H + \mu H^{\dagger}H - \lambda(H^{\dagger}H)^{3},7)$$

where  $e_{iR}$  and  $\ell_{iL}$  have the indices to show explicitly which generations and associated Yukawa couplings  $f_i$  are in question. The potential of the Higgs field is

$$V(H) = -\mu^2 H^{\dagger} H + \lambda (H^{\dagger} H)^2$$
(3.8)

and the minimum is  $|H| = v/\sqrt{2}$  with  $v = \sqrt{\mu^2/\lambda}$ .

Because the combination  $T^3 + \frac{Y}{2}$  of the group generators annihilates the Higgs VEV  $(0, v/\sqrt{2})^T$ , the remaining symmetry is  $U(1)_{em}$ . The corresponding charge of the remnant symmetry  $U(1)_{em}$  is the electric charge Qwhich is related to weak isospin T of  $SU(2)_L$  and hypercharge Y of  $U(1)_Y$ through

$$Q = T^3 + \frac{Y}{2},$$
 (3.9)

*/* \

where  $T^3$  is the third component of T. Table 3.1 summarizes the T,  $T^3$  and Y quantum numbers for SM leptons.

SM leptons obtain their masses from the Yukawa couplings to the Higgs field and the gauge fields become massive through the kinetic term of the Higgs field shown in (3.7). The terms

$$\mathcal{L}_{G,M} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & v \end{pmatrix} \left( g A^a_\mu T^a + \frac{1}{2} g' B_\mu \right) \left( g A^{b\mu} T^b + \frac{1}{2} g' B^\mu \right) \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ v \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{v^2}{4} [g^2 (A^1_\mu)^2 + g^2 (A^2_\mu)^2 + (-g A^3_\mu + g' B_\mu)^2] \qquad (3.10)$$

generate gauge boson masses. Three of the bosons become massive

$$W^{\pm}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (A^{1}_{\mu} \mp i A^{2}_{\mu}), \qquad m_{W} = g \frac{v}{2},$$
 (3.11)

$$Z_{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g^2 + g'^2}} (gA_{\mu}^3 - g'B_{\mu}), \qquad m_Z = \sqrt{g^2 + g'^2} \frac{v}{2}, \quad (3.12)$$

and the fourth vector boson remains massless

$$A_{\mu} = \frac{1}{g^2 + g'^2} (g' A_{\mu}^3 + g B_{\mu}) \qquad m_A = 0.$$
(3.13)

This massless particle is the photon which is the gauge boson of the remnant electromagnetic symmetry group  $U(1)_{em}$ . This can be seen by looking at the covariant derivative (acting on the Higgs field H) written in terms of the mass eigenstate vector bosons. There the operator  $T^3 + \frac{Y}{2}$  multiplies the massless  $A_{\mu}$ . By defining the weak mixing angle  $\theta_w$ 

$$\cos \theta_w = \frac{g}{\sqrt{g^2 + g'^2}},$$
  

$$\sin \theta_w = \frac{g'}{\sqrt{g^2 + g'^2}}$$
(3.14)

the neutral vector bosons can be expressed as

$$Z_{\mu} = \cos \theta_w A_{\mu}^3 - \sin \theta_w B_{\mu},$$
  

$$A_{\mu} = \sin \theta_w A_{\mu}^3 + \cos \theta_w B_{\mu}.$$
(3.15)

Fermion masses are generated by the Yukawa coupling terms  $f_i H^{\dagger} \bar{e}_{R_i} l_{L_i}$ . The electron mass is then given by

$$m_e = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} f_e v \tag{3.16}$$

and other charged lepton masses are generated in a similar manner as a product of v = 246 GeV and the Yukawa coupling  $f_i$ .

The interaction terms between fermions and gauge bosons are found in the covariant derivatives of (3.7). By replacing the gauge fields  $A^a_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$ with the mass eigenstates  $A_{\mu}$ ,  $Z_{\mu}$  and  $W^{\pm}_{\mu}$  we get

$$gA_{\mu}^{3}T^{3} + g'\frac{1}{2}YB_{\mu} = \frac{g}{\cos\theta w}[T^{3} - \sin^{2}\theta_{w}Q]Z_{\mu} + g\sin\theta_{w}QA_{\mu}, \quad (3.17)$$
which gives the neutral current interactions for the leptons

$$\mathcal{L}_{NC} = \frac{g}{\cos\theta_w} \bar{\psi} \gamma^\mu [T^3 - \sin^2\theta_w Q] \psi Z_\mu + g \sin\theta_w \bar{\psi} \gamma^\mu Q \psi A_\mu.$$
(3.18)

Similarly, the interactions with the charged gauge bosons are obtained from the covariant derivative terms

$$gA^{1}_{\mu}T^{1} + gA^{2}_{\mu}T^{2} = \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}}[W^{+}_{\mu}(T^{1} + iT^{2}) + W^{-}_{\mu}(T^{1} - iT^{2}) \qquad (3.19)$$

and so

$$\mathcal{L}_{CC} = i \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} W^{+\mu} J^{+}_{\mu} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.20)$$
$$J^{+}_{\mu} = \bar{\nu}_L \gamma_{\mu} e_L$$

is the charged current Lagrangian for the leptons.

At the time when SM was formulated (see *e.g.* [59]), there were no experimental evidence stating that neutrinos should have mass. This is why neutrinos in (3.7) lack a Yukawa term similar to  $f_i H^{\dagger} \bar{e}_{iR} l_{iL}$  that generates mass when the Higgs field develops a VEV.

## 3.1.2 Heavy singlet neutrinos beyond SM and the seesaw mechanism

In the previous section we learned that SM neutrinos are massless. This contradicts neutrino oscillation experiments (described in the next section) that suggest neutrinos must have a mass. A way to circumvent the problem is to introduce a beyond SM Dirac mass term that is similar to the charged lepton mass terms. This would require a right-handed  $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  singlet neutrino that appears in the Yukawa interaction

$$\mathcal{L}_Y = -f_{ij}\bar{\ell}_{iL}\bar{H}N_{jR} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.21)$$

where  $\tilde{H} = i\sigma^2 H^*$  and which gives the neutrino mass terms

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{mass}} = -f_{ij} \frac{v}{\sqrt{2}} \bar{\nu}_{iL} N_{jR} + \text{h.c.}.$$
(3.22)

To explain the sub-eV masses,  $m_{\nu} = 0.01$  eV, for neutrinos one would have to fine tune the couplings  $f_{ij} \sim 10^{-13}$ , which does not seem natural. Small neutrino masses can be generated in an alternative scenario where the assumption that neutrinos are Dirac fermions is relaxed.

Since neutrinos are electrically neutral, they can have mass terms of the type  $m_{ij}\overline{\nu_{iR}^c}\nu_{jL}$ . However, this Majorana [60] mass term is not allowed for SM neutrinos because it is not gauge invariant. Thus, new gauge singlet neutrinos  $N_{iR}$  must be introduced with Majorana mass term

$$M_{ij}\overline{N_{iL}^c}N_{jR}.$$
(3.23)

Leptogenesis scenarios require that B - L is broken, which could be the natural manifestation of the breaking some underlying symmetry. The singlet right-handed neutrinos  $N_R$  arise naturally in theories beyond the SM where there is an extra U(1) gauge symmetry. The group SO(10) is known to have  $U(1)_{B-L}$  as a subgroup [47, 48] so the simplest extensions of the SM in this regard are considered to stem from SO(10). To cancel the triangle anomaly  $[U(1)_{B-L}]^3$  singlet right-handed neutrinos must be included [61, 62]. Now, the neutrino mass term for one SM neutrino flavor becomes

$$-\mathcal{L}_{mass} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\nu_L} & \overline{N_L^c} \end{pmatrix} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} \begin{pmatrix} \nu_R^c \\ N_R \end{pmatrix} + \text{h.c.}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{\nu_L} & \overline{N_L^c} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & M_D \\ M_D^T & M_R \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \nu_R^c \\ N_R \end{pmatrix} + \text{h.c.} \quad (3.24)$$

with real  $M_D$  and  $M_R$  for simplicity. By diagonalizing the mass matrix  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}$  with U we compute  $U^T \widetilde{\mathcal{M}} U$  and obtain the masses

$$m_1 \simeq M_R,$$
  

$$m_2 \simeq \frac{M_D^2}{M_R}.$$
(3.25)

The light neutrino mass  $m_2$  is suppressed by the mass of the singlet neutrino  $M_R$  if  $M_D \ll M_R$ , and the observed sub-eV neutrino masses would require that the heavy mass is ~ 10<sup>15</sup> GeV which is close to the GUT scale. This is the Type I seesaw mechanism [63, 64]. Type II [65]-[68] and III [69]-[71] seesaw mechanisms include SU(2) triplet scalar and SU(2) triplet fermions, respectively. The  $M_D$  blocks in the mass matrix are Dirac masses and they arise in the Yukawa interactions

$$\mathcal{L}_Y = -h_{ij}\bar{\ell}_{jL}\tilde{H}N_{iR} + \text{h.c.}$$

when the Higgs field develops a VEV as we learned before.

The existence of the Majorana mass term (3.23) implies two things. First, there is lepton number violation by two units  $\Delta L = \pm 2$ . This is not a problem since lepton number is not gauged within the SM. Second, if neutrinos are Majorana fermions, they are their own antiparticles, which reduces their number of degrees of freedom to half compared to Dirac fermions.

#### 3.1.3 Neutrino oscillations and experiments

The motivation behind introducing Majorana neutrinos, neutrino masses (3.24) and other neutrino mass models is the observation that neutrinos oscillate from one flavor to another. The first hints toward flavor oscillations came from Davis's Homestake experiment based on a chlorine detector in 1968 that observed a deficit in the flux of solar electron neutrinos [73]. This was dubbed the solar neutrino puzzle. Several other experiments such as SAGE [74], GALLEX [75] and GNO [76] based on gallium detectors and Kamiokande [77] and Super-Kamiokande [78] using Cherenkov detectors tackled the solar neutrino puzzle. In 2001 the heavy water detector at Sudbury Neutrino Observatory (SNO) confirmed neutrino oscillations as the cause for the deficit in solar neutrinos [79]. The apparent deficit of  $\nu_e$ s exists because  $\nu_e$ s are converted to the other flavors  $\nu_{\mu}$  and  $\nu_{\tau}$ .

Another phenomenon related to neutrino oscillations is connected to atmospheric neutrinos produced in the atmosphere by cosmic ray interactions. The ratio of  $\nu_{\mu}$  to  $\nu_{e}$  was observed to have a deficit at Super-Kamiokande [80] as  $\nu_{\mu}$  oscillate into other flavors. Other studies on atmospheric neutrinos have been conducted at long baseline experiments. These include the K2K [81] and MINOS [82] with neutrino path length extending hundreds of kilometers.

The determination of one of the neutrino mixing angles  $\theta_{13}$  described in (3.28) has been the objective for some experiments. Antineutrino  $\bar{\nu}_e$ disappearance experiments have been conducted at CHOOZ [83] and Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station in Arizona [84]. Neither CHOOZ nor Palo Verde observed antineutrino disappearance. The Super-Kamiokande [85] and SNO [86] experiments have set limits to  $\theta_{13}$  and [87] suggests  $\theta_{13}$ is indeed nonzero.

Since neutrinos can obtain masses via the seesaw mechanism, (3.24) and

(3.25), the mass eigenstates are related to the flavor eigenstates through

$$\nu_{iL} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{3} U_{i\alpha}^{\dagger} \nu_{\alpha L}, \qquad (3.26)$$

where i and  $\alpha$  denote the mass and flavor eigenstates, respectively. The fact that neutrino flavor states do not coincide with the mass eigenstates alters the charged current interaction (3.20) if we wish to write it entirely in terms of mass eigenstates

$$\mathcal{L}_{CC} = i \frac{g}{\sqrt{2}} \sum_{l,i} \bar{\ell}_L W^- U_{li} \nu_{iL} + \text{h.c.}$$
(3.27)

The Pontecorvo-Maki-Nakagawa-Sakata (PMNS) matrix U is unitary and it can be parameterized as [72]

$$U = \begin{pmatrix} c_{12}c_{13} & s_{12}c_{13} & s_{13}e^{-i\delta} \\ -s_{12}c_{23} - c_{12}s_{23}s_{13}e^{i\delta} & c_{12}c_{23} - s_{12}s_{23}s_{13}e^{i\delta} & s_{23}c_{13} \\ s_{12}s_{23} - c_{12}c_{23}s_{13}e^{i\delta} & -c_{12}s_{23} - s_{12}c_{23}s_{13}e^{i\delta} & c_{23}c_{13} \end{pmatrix} \times \operatorname{diag}(1, e^{i\alpha_{21}/2}, e^{i\alpha_{31}/2}), \qquad (3.28)$$

where  $c_{ij} = \cos \theta_{ij}$ ,  $s_{ij} = \sin \theta_{ij}$ , the angles  $\theta_{ij} = [0, \pi/2]$ ,  $\delta = [0, \pi]$  is the Dirac *CP* violation phase and  $\alpha_{21}$  and  $\alpha_{31}$  are the Majorana *CP* violation phases. The Majorana phases are relevant if neutrinos are Majorana fermions, although these phases do not affect transition probabilities. The major difference between neutrino and quark mixing is that two Majorana neutrino generations are sufficient to induce *CP* violation whereas with quarks three generations are needed. More phases are left in the former case because they cannot be absorbed in Majorana fermion fields whereas with Dirac fermions more phases can be absorbed by redefining the fermion fields and thus more Dirac fermions are needed to have at least one phase left.

Neutrino experiments have determined limits for the mixing angles  $\theta_{ij}$ and squared mass differences  $\Delta m_{ij}^2 \equiv m_i^2 - m_j^2$ . They have been found to be [88, 23]

$$\begin{array}{ll} (\sin^2 \theta_{23})_{\text{best fit}} &= 0.5, & 0.36 \le \sin^2 \theta_{23} \le 0.67, \\ (|\Delta m_{31}^2|)_{\text{best fit}} &= 2.4 \times 10^{-3} \text{eV}^2, \\ 2.07 \times 10^{-3} \text{eV}^2 &\le |\Delta m_{31}^2| \le 2.75 \times 10^{-3} \text{eV}^2 \end{array} \right\} \text{ atmospheric } \nu(3.29)$$

and

$$\begin{array}{ll} (\sin^2 \theta_{12})_{\text{best fit}} &= 0.304, & 0.25 \le \sin^2 \theta_{12} \le 0.37, \\ (|\Delta m_{21}^2|)_{\text{best fit}} &= 7.65 \times 10^{-5} \text{eV}^2, \\ 7.05 \times 10^{-5} \text{eV}^2 &\le \Delta m_{21}^2 \le 8.34 \times 10^{-5} \text{eV}^2 \end{array} \right\} \text{ solar } \nu. \quad (3.30)$$

CHOOZ [83] gives an upper limit to the remaining mixing angle

$$\sin^2 2\theta_{13} < 0 - 0.15 \text{ at } 90\% \text{ CL}$$
(3.31)

with  $|\Delta m^2_{31}|\simeq 2.4\times 10^{-3}~{\rm eV^2}$  while a combined analysis of global data yields [88]

$$\sin^2 \theta_{13} < 0.035 \ (0.056)$$
 at 90% (99.73%) CL. (3.32)

Existing data does not restrict the sign of  $\Delta m_{31(2)}$ , and the two sign alternatives imply different hierarchies for the neutrino mass spectrum. With normal ordering  $m_1 < m_2 < m_3$  the mass differences  $\Delta m_{31}^2 > 0$  and  $\Delta m_{21}^2 > 0$  whereas with inverted ordering  $m_3 < m_1 < m_2$  the atmospheric mass difference is negative  $\Delta m_{32}^2 < 0$ .

#### 3.2 CP violation and leptogenesis

Models including right-handed singlet neutrinos can accommodate CP violation and lepton number violation

$$\mathcal{L} = -h_{ij}\bar{\ell}_{jL}\tilde{H}N_{iR} + \frac{1}{2}M_{ij}\overline{N_{iR}}N^c_{\ jL} + \text{h.c.}$$
(3.33)

The Yukawa coupling matrix  $h_{ij}$  contains 9 *CP* violating phases, three of which can be absorbed into the wave function of  $\ell$ . The interaction  $-h_{ij}\bar{\ell}_{jL}\tilde{H}N_{iR}$  allows a heavy right-handed neutrino  $N_i$  to decay to leptons and antileptons, see Fig. 3.1. The out-of-equilibrium decays at temperatures T < M, where M denotes the heavy Majorana mass scale, can generate net lepton number which is subsequently converted to baryon number in the sphaleron processes [7].

With hierarchical right-handed neutrinos  $M_1 \ll M_2, M_3$  one can assume that the lightest neutrino  $N_1$  produces the lepton asymmetry and that any asymmetry generated by the heavier neutrinos  $N_2$  and  $N_3$  has been washed



Figure 3.1: The relevant tree level and loop diagrams depicting the decay of the heavy neutrinos  $N_1$  to SM leptons and Higgs doublet.

out. The CP violation parameter emerging from the interference between the tree level and one loop diagrams of Fig. 3.1(b) is given by [7], [57], [89]-[92]

$$\varepsilon_1 = \frac{\sum_{\alpha} [\Gamma(N_1 \to \ell_{\alpha} H) - \Gamma(N_1 \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} H^{\dagger})]}{\sum_{\alpha} [\Gamma(N_1 \to \ell_{\alpha} H) + \Gamma(N_1 \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} H^{\dagger})]}$$
(3.34)

$$\simeq \frac{1}{8\pi} \frac{1}{(hh^{\dagger})_{11}} \sum_{i=2,3} \operatorname{Im}\left[(hh^{\dagger})_{1i}^{2}\right] \left[ f\left(\frac{M_{i}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right) + g\left(\frac{M_{i}^{2}}{M_{1}^{2}}\right) \right], \quad (3.35)$$

where

$$f(x) = \sqrt{x} \left[ 1 - (1+x) \ln\left(\frac{1+x}{x}\right) \right],$$
 (3.36)

$$g(x) = \frac{\sqrt{x}}{1-x}.$$
 (3.37)

The functions  $f(M_i^2/M_1^2)$  and  $g(M_i^2/M_1^2)$  arise from the vertex and mixing diagrams, respectively. For hierarchical right-handed neutrinos,  $M_1 \ll M_2, M_3, \varepsilon$  reduces to

$$\varepsilon_1 \simeq -\frac{3}{16\pi} \frac{1}{(hh^{\dagger})_{11}} \sum_{i=2,3} \operatorname{Im}\left[(hh^{\dagger})_{1i}^2\right] \frac{M_1}{M_i}.$$
(3.38)

The decays of the right-handed neutrinos have to be out-of-equilibrium because otherwise the asymmetry generated in (3.34) would be washed out. This means the Hubble rate has to exceed the decay width  $\Gamma_{D_1} = (hh^{\dagger})_{11}M_1/(8\pi)$  of the decaying neutrino  $N_1$ 

$$r \equiv \frac{\Gamma_{D_1}}{H|_{T=M_1}} = \frac{M_{\rm Pl}}{1.7 \times 32\pi \sqrt{g_*}} \frac{(hh^{\dagger})_{11}}{M_1} < 1.$$
(3.39)

with the number of degrees of freedom is denoted by  $g_*$  and for SM  $g_* \simeq 106.75$ , and the Planck mass  $M_{\rm Pl} = 1.22 \times 10^{19}$  GeV. The effective neutrino mass is defined as

$$\tilde{m}_1 = (hh^\dagger)_{11} \frac{v^2}{M_1}$$

and the equilibrium mass by

$$m_* = 8\pi \frac{v^2}{M_1^2} H \big|_{T=M_1} \simeq 1.1 \times 10^{-3} \text{eV}.$$

with v = 174 GeV. The condition (3.39) can be expressed in an equivalent form

$$\tilde{m}_1 < m_* \simeq 1.1 \times 10^{-3} \text{eV}.$$
 (3.40)

The generated lepton number is given by

$$Y_L = \frac{n_L - \bar{n}_L}{s} = \kappa \frac{\varepsilon}{g_*},\tag{3.41}$$

where  $\kappa$  parametrizes the amount of washout that is generated by inverse decays and scattering processes. The generated baryon number is related to the lepton number through

$$Y_{B-L} \simeq -Y_L = -\kappa \frac{\varepsilon_1}{g_*}.$$
(3.42)

Thus, a relation between net baryon number and CP violation due to heavy neutrino decays has been established.

#### 3.2.1 Boltzmann equations

In addition to the lepton number producing processes in Fig. 3.1, there are processes that strive to wash out any generated lepton number. These processes consist of [57], [91]

- 1. inverse decays  $\ell H \to N_1, \ \bar{\ell} H^{\dagger} \to N_1$
- 2. off-shell  $\Delta L = 1$  scatterings

$$\begin{split} N_1\ell \leftrightarrow t\bar{q}, & N_1\ell \leftrightarrow t\bar{q} \quad \text{s channel} \\ N_1t \leftrightarrow \bar{\ell}q, & N_1\bar{t} \leftrightarrow \ell\bar{q} \quad \text{t channel} \end{split}$$

3. off-shell  $\Delta L = 2$  scatterings

$$\ell H \leftrightarrow ar{\ell} H^\dagger, \qquad \ell \ell \leftrightarrow H^\dagger H^\dagger, \qquad ar{\ell} ar{\ell} \leftrightarrow H H.$$

The Boltzmann equations relevant for leptogenesis are [93]-[95], [30]

$$\frac{dN_{N_1}}{dz} = -(D+S)(N_{N_1} - N_{N_1}^{\text{eq}}), \qquad (3.43)$$

$$\frac{dN_{B-L}}{dz} = -\varepsilon_1 D(N_{N_1} - N_{N_1}^{\text{eq}}) - WN_{B-L}, \qquad (3.44)$$

where  $z = M_1/T$ . These equations hold when all SM states that emerge in scattering and decay processes are in thermal equilibrium. The relativistic equilibrium  $N_1$  number density is  $N_{N_1}^{\text{eq}}(z \ll 1) = 3/4$ .

The  $N_1$  abundance is modified by decays, inverse decays and  $\Delta L = 1$  scatterings that tend to drive  $N_{N_1}$  towards its equilibrium value  $N_{N_1}^{\text{eq}}$ . The term  $D = \Gamma_D/(Hz)$  accounts for decays and inverse decays and  $S = \Gamma_S/(Hz)$  denotes the contributions made by  $\Delta L = 1$  scatterings. The decay term D also acts as the source for B-L asymmetry. The total washout term  $W = \Gamma_W/(Hz)$  receives contributions from all processes and it competes with the decay source term.

In a simplified picture only decays and inverse decays are considered and this gives the solution for  $N_{B-L}$  [96]

$$N_{B-L}(z) = N_{B-L}^{i} e^{-\int_{z_1}^{z} dz' W_{ID}(z')} - \frac{3}{4} \varepsilon_1 \kappa(z; \tilde{m}_1), \qquad (3.45)$$

where  $W_{ID}$  denotes the contribution of inverse decays to the washout, and the efficiency factor  $\kappa$  is given by

$$\kappa(z) = \frac{4}{3} \int_{z_i}^{z} dz' D(N_{N_1} - N_{N_1}^{eq}) e^{\int_{z'}^{z} dz'' W_{ID}(z'')}.$$
(3.46)

The decay parameter K is defined as

$$K = \frac{\Gamma_D(z=\infty)}{H(z=1)} = \frac{\tilde{m}_1}{m_*}$$
(3.47)

and the contribution of inverse decays to the washout is

$$W_{ID}(z) = \frac{1}{2}D(z)\frac{N_{N_1}^{\text{eq}}(z)}{N_l^{\text{eq}}}.$$
(3.48)

Cases are distinguished as whether they are in the weak  $K \ll 1$  or strong  $K \gg 1$  washout regimes. In the regime of weak washout the efficiency factor is

$$\kappa_f(K) \simeq \frac{9\pi^2}{64} K^2,$$
(3.49)

where the initial abundance of  $N_1$  is assumed to vanish,  $N_{N_1}(z_i) \equiv N_{N_1}^i \simeq 0$ . In the region of strong washout the integral for the efficiency factor becomes

$$\kappa(z) = \frac{2}{K} \int_{z_{eq}}^{z} dz' \frac{1}{z'} W_{ID}(z') e^{-\int_{z'}^{z} dz'' W_{ID}(z'')}, \qquad (3.50)$$

where the integrand has a maximum at  $z = z_B$  and  $N_{N_1}(z_{eq}) = N_{N_1}^{eq}(z_{eq})$ . The integral (3.50) receives its main contribution around  $z_B$  which is given by

$$z_B(K) \simeq 1 + \frac{1}{2} \ln \left( 1 + \frac{\pi K^2}{1024} \left[ \ln \left( \frac{3125\pi K^2}{1024} \right) \right]^5 \right).$$
 (3.51)

The efficiency factor from (3.50) is approximated by

$$\kappa_{\rm f}(K) \simeq \frac{2}{z_B(K)K} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{1}{2}z_B(K)K}\right).$$
(3.52)

By including  $\Delta L = 1$  and  $\Delta L = 2$  scatterings as well as thermal corrections [97] and scattering processes with gauge bosons [98, 97] one can solve the Boltzmann equations for the full theory. The efficiency factor receives corrections as compared to the cases shown in equations (3.49) and (3.52), and in the strong washout region

$$\kappa_{\rm f} = (2 \pm 1) \times 10^{-2} \left(\frac{0.01 \,\mathrm{eV}}{\tilde{m}_1}\right)^{1.1 \pm 0.1}.$$
(3.53)

In some cases the decays of the other heavy neutrinos  $N_2$  and  $N_3$  can become significant [99]-[102] even if the heavy neutrino mass spectrum is hierarchical  $M_1 \ll M_{2,3}$ . These are known as flavor effects and they arise when the charged lepton Yukawa couplings are large enough. This influences the choice of basis in writing the Boltzmann equations: when the charged lepton couplings are large one should use the flavor basis whereas with weak coupling one should use a basis where two states are orthogonal to the lepton state produced in the heavy neutrino decay.

### 3.3 Quasidegenerate heavy neutrinos and resonant leptogenesis

The previous section dealt with hierarchical heavy neutrinos  $M_1 \ll M_{2,3}$ . In this case the contribution to CP violation comes from the decays of the lightest heavy neutrino  $N_1$  and the amplitude is computed from the tree level and vertex loop diagrams of Figs. 3.1(a) and 3.1(b).

A different scenario arises when the heavy neutrinos are nearly massdegenerate, e.g.  $|M_1 - M_2| \ll M_{1,2}$  [103]-[107]. Both heavy states decay to SM leptons and the Higgs doublet and so the total *CP* violation parameter can be defined either as [103]

$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{N_1} + \varepsilon_{N_2}, \qquad (3.54)$$

$$\varepsilon_{N_i} = \frac{\sum_{\alpha} [\Gamma(N_i \to \ell_{\alpha} H) - \Gamma(N_i \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} \bar{H})]}{\sum_{\alpha} [\Gamma(N_i \to \ell_{\alpha} H) + \Gamma(N_i \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} \bar{H})]}$$

or as [105]

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\sum_{\alpha} [\Gamma(N_1 \to \ell_{\alpha} H) - \Gamma(N_1 \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} \bar{H}) + \Gamma(N_2 \to \ell_{\alpha} H) - \Gamma(N_2 \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} \bar{H})]}{\sum_{\alpha} [\Gamma(N_1 \to \ell_{\alpha} H) + \Gamma(N_1 \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} \bar{H}) + \Gamma(N_2 \to \ell_{\alpha} H) + \Gamma(N_2 \to \bar{\ell}_{\alpha} \bar{H})]}.$$
(3.55)

The latter definition (3.55) measures the net lepton number produced in any decay process irrespective of the source whereas the former (3.54) adds the separate contributions from  $N_1$  and  $N_2$  together.

With quasidegenerate heavy neutrinos the contribution given by the mixing diagram Fig. 3.1(c) can be significantly enhanced and the CP violation parameter can become as high as  $\varepsilon \leq 1/2$  [105, 106]. The mixing diagrams have the  $N_2$  running in the propagator in  $N_1$  decays and vice versa. The heavy neutrino propagator includes all possible one-particle irreducible (1PI) diagrams and they are obtained by resumming an infinite series of heavy neutrino self-energy graphs. The resummed amplitudes for lepton and antilepton production via  $N_1$  decay, Figs. 3.1(a) and 3.1(c) with  $N_j = N_2$ , are [105]

$$\mathcal{T}_{N_{1}} = h_{l1}\bar{u}_{l}P_{R}u_{N_{1}} - ih_{l2}\bar{u}_{l}P_{R}[\not p - M_{2} + i\Sigma_{22}^{\mathrm{abs}}(\not p)]^{-1}\Sigma_{21}^{\mathrm{abs}}(\not p)u_{N_{1}} \\
= \bar{u}_{l}P_{R}u_{N_{1}}\left[h_{l1} - ih_{l2}\frac{M_{1}^{2}(1 + iA_{22})A_{21}^{*} + M_{1}M_{2}A_{21}}{M_{1}^{2}(1 + iA_{22})^{2} - M_{2}^{2}}\right], \quad (3.56) \\
\bar{\mathcal{T}}_{N_{1}} = h_{l1}^{*}\bar{u}_{l}P_{L}u_{N_{1}} - ih_{l2}^{*}P_{L}[\not p - M_{2} + i\bar{\Sigma}_{22}^{\mathrm{abs}}(\not p)]^{-1}\Sigma_{21}^{\mathrm{abs}}(\not p)u_{N_{1}} \\
= \bar{u}_{l}P_{L}u_{N_{1}}\left[h_{l1}^{*} - ih_{l2}^{*}\frac{M_{1}^{2}(1 + iA_{22})A_{21} + M_{1}M_{2}A_{21}^{*}}{M_{1}(1 + iA_{22})^{2} - M_{2}^{2}}\right]. \quad (3.57)$$

The absorptive parts of the mixing loops are given by

$$\Sigma_{ij}^{\text{abs}}(\not p) = A_{ij}(p^2)\not p P_L + A_{ij}^*(p^2)\not p P_R,$$
  

$$\bar{\Sigma}_{ij}^{\text{abs}}(\not p) = A_{ij}(p^2)\not p P_R + A_{ij}^*(p^2)\not p P_L$$
(3.58)

with

$$A_{ij} = \frac{h_{l'i}h_{l'j}^*}{16\pi} \tag{3.59}$$

in the limit of vanishing Higgs mass  $M_H \to 0$ . The *CP* asymmetry due to the decays of  $N_1$  Fig. 3.1(c) with quasidegenerate heavy neutrinos  $N_{1,2}$ becomes [105, 106, 29]

$$\varepsilon_{N_1} = -\frac{M_1}{M_2} \frac{\Gamma_2}{M_2} \frac{M_2^2 \Delta M_{21}^2}{(\Delta M_{21}^2)^2 + M_1^2 \Gamma_2^2} \frac{\text{Im}[(h^\dagger h)_{12}^2]}{(h^\dagger h)_{11}(h^\dagger h)_{22}}.$$
 (3.60)

The resonance condition is

$$|M_1 - M_2| \sim \frac{\Gamma_{1,2}}{2}.$$
 (3.61)

In the high temperature regime the decay rates of heavy neutrinos can exceed the Hubble rate and the heavy neutrinos can quickly thermalize with SM particles. Also, washout effects are strong and they erase any preexisting lepton asymmetry. The advantage of resonant leptogenesis is that large amounts of lepton number can be produced as the universe cools to temperatures close to the heavy neutrino mass. This lepton asymmetry survives washout effects and is converted to baryon asymmetry by sphalerons. Leptogenesis could be possible with TeV-scale heavy neutrino masses.

Our research articles [1]-[3] consider models where CP violation is mainly generated via the mixing diagram in Fig. 3.1(c) and the definition of the

CP violation parameter follows (3.55). The decaying heavy particles form a quasidegenerate spectrum where the mass splittings are much smaller than the masses of the decaying states  $|\Delta M_{ij}| \ll M_{i,j}$ . Extra dimensions with SM singlet neutrinos [1, 2] and B - L gauged supersymmetry [3] produce the desired heavy particle spectra, and these scenarios are discussed in the next two chapters.

### Chapter 4

## Leptogenesis in models with flat extra dimensions

Unifying the fundamental interactions with extra dimensions is an idea that dates back to 1914 when Gunnar Nordström proposed a 5-dimensional theory that ties electromagnetism and scalar gravity together [108]. In 1921 Theodor Kaluza realized that a 5-dimensional generalization of Einstein's theory of general relativity can describe both gravity and electromagnetism [109]. Oskar Klein considered gauge invariance and physical implications of compactification of the extra dimension [110]. Since the late 1970's superstring theories have been considered as a way to incorporate the SM of particle physics and gravity. These theories introduce extra dimensions on top of the familiar four spacetime dimensions. The work of Horava and Witten [111, 112] suggested that some of the extra dimensions could be larger than the Planck length  $\ell_{\rm Pl} = 1/M_{\rm Pl}$ . In late 1990's it was discovered that large extra dimensions in the millimeter scale could exist and they could be accessed in current particle colliders.

Section 4.1 reviews large extra dimensions and their observation [113, 23]. The topic of section 4.2 is how particles and especially neutrinos can exist in extra dimensions. Finally, section 4.3 presents our research [1, 2].

#### 4.1 Large extra dimensions

The basic idea is that we live in a 3-brane hypersurface which is embedded in a higher dimensional world, the bulk. The fundamental higher dimensional Planck scale can be in the TeV scale and this translates to the strong hierarchies we observe in three spatial dimensions. According to Arkani-Hamed, Dimopoulos and Dvali, this can happen if the size of the extra dimension is large, even at the millimeter scale [114]-[116]. An alternative to producing large hierarchies is given in [117, 118] where the extra dimension is small and the metric of the 4-dimensional spacetime depends on the coordinates of the extra dimension.

#### 4.1.1 The hierarchy problem

The large separation between the electroweak scale of  $m_W \sim 1$  TeV and Planck scale  $M_{\rm Pl} = 1.2 \times 10^{19}$  GeV is dubbed the hierarchy problem. It arises from the radiative corrections to the Higgs boson mass

$$\delta m_H^2 = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} (\lambda_H^2 - \lambda_F^2) \Lambda^2 + \text{logarithmic divergence} + \text{finite terms} \quad (4.1)$$

which are quadratically divergent and depend on the cutoff scale  $\Lambda$  which lies in the GUT scale ~ 10<sup>16</sup> GeV or Planck scale ~ 10<sup>19</sup> GeV. Fermionic Yukawa couplings are denoted by  $\lambda_F$  and self-couplings to H by  $\lambda_H$ .

In order to produce a TeV scale mass for the Higgs boson, one has to get rid of the quadratic divergence. In dimensional regularization  $1/\varepsilon$  singularities appear and these can be absorbed into the counterterms. The use of dimensional regularization could be justified if the SM was the fundamental theory. However, a complete theory should contain gravity alongside the SM and so a cutoff  $\Lambda$  has to be introduced. Thus, we are compelled to cancel the quadratic divergence in (4.1), which requires that the counterterm must be highly fine tuned.

#### 4.1.2 The Arkani-Hamed-Dimopoulos-Dvali model

By considering our perceivable 4-dimensional world as a hypersurface embedded in a higher dimensional bulk we can circumvent the hierarchy problem. This can be seen if we write Newton's gravitational potential between two masses  $m_1$  and  $m_2$  in D = 4 + d dimensions:

$$V(r) = -\frac{m_1 m_2}{M^{d+2} r^{d+1}}, \ r \ll R,$$

$$V(r) = -\frac{m_1 m_2}{M_{\rm Pl}^2 r}, \ r \gg R,$$
(4.2)

where R represents the size of the largest dimensions, r denotes the distance between the masses and d denotes the number of extra spatial dimensions. The 4-dimensional Planck scale  $M_{\text{Pl}}$  is thus related to the higher dimensional fundamental scale M through

$$M_{\rm Pl}^2 = M^{d+2} V_d, \tag{4.3}$$

where  $V_d = (2\pi R)^d$  is the volume of the extra space.

If we demand that the fundamental scale has to be the electroweak scale  $M = m_{EW}$ , we can deduce the size of the extra dimension. One extra spatial dimension would result in  $R = 10^{13}$  cm, which implies deviations from Newtonian gravity over solar distance scales. With d = 2 the size of extra dimensions can lie in the millimeter scale. This is also the limit of current experiments testing gravity.

#### 4.1.3 Observation of large extra dimensions

Collider signatures include missing energy that is transferred into the bulk in graviton emission processes whose rates are suppressed by  $M_{\rm Pl}$ , and corrections to standard cross sections from graviton exchange [119]-[128]. Colliders have searched for extra dimensional gravitons in the processes  $e^+e^- \rightarrow \gamma + \not\!\!\!E$  and  $e^+e^- \rightarrow Z + \not\!\!\!E$  at LEP, and  $p\bar{p} \rightarrow \text{jet} + \not\!\!\!E_T$  and  $p\bar{p} \rightarrow \gamma + \not\!\!\!E_T$  at the Tevatron [23].

If the impact parameter b is smaller than the Schwarzschild radius for a collision with center of mass energy  $\sqrt{s} \gg M$ , black hole formation becomes possible [129, 130, 23]. The newly emerged black hole emits thermal radiation with Hawking temperature  $T_H = (d+1)/(4\pi R_S)$ , where  $R_S$  is the Schwarzschild radius. Thus, detectors should be sensitive to this thermal radiation. An example of black hole evaporation time is  $10^{-26} - 10^{-27}$  s when the fundamental gravity scale is 1 TeV.

The possibility that gravity feels extra dimensions has fuelled much interest in experiments looking for deviations from Newton's gravitational inverse square law [131]. These deviations are parametrized by the modified Newtonian potential

$$V(r) = -G_N \frac{m_1 m_2}{r} [1 + \alpha \exp(-r/\lambda)]$$
(4.4)

with the parameter regions presented in Fig. 4.1. It has been discov-



Figure 4.1: The figure taken from [132] shows experimental limits for  $\lambda$  and  $\alpha$  from (4.4).

ered that astrophysical constraints prevent the observation of deviations to Newton's law. However, *e.g.* gauge bosons could mediate modifications to Newton's law and these modifications could produce a detectable signal in the coming experiments.

The fact that gravitons can exist in extra dimensions and excite KK modes places restrictions on extra dimensional gravity because these new

degrees of freedom have to fulfill a number of astrophysical constraints [133]. One constraint comes from the supernova SN1987A where the KK gravitons cannot carry away more than half of the emitted energy [134]. The EGRET satellite is set out to measure the  $\gamma$  radiation that is produced the decays of KK gravitons from all supernovae in the universe [135]. Gravitons can also be trapped by supernova remnants and neutron stars. These gravitons decay into  $\gamma$ s on occasion and limits on this radiation imply bounds for the fundamental scale and number of extra dimensions [133].

#### 4.2 Brane-bulk models

Extra dimensions alter several features of high energy particle theories. Neutrino mixing, gauge coupling unification [136, 137] and gravity [119, 120] have to be modified. Different variations make some SM particles extra dimensional so that they can propagate in the bulk while the rest are restricted to the brane. Models where SM gauge bosons live in higher dimensions have been considered in [136, 137] and [138]-[144]. Here, we review [113] some generic features of brane-bulk models and later on we study how neutrinos can be accommodated to extra dimensional models.

Brane-bulk theories describe how SM particles residing on the brane interact with bulk particles that could be gravitons or SM singlets. The action describing the interactions of a bulk field  $\phi(x, y)$  in a higher dimensional theory can be written as

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{bulk}}[\phi] = \int d^4x d^dy \sqrt{|g_{(4+d)}|} \mathcal{L}(\phi(x,y)), \qquad (4.5)$$

where x denotes the coordinates of 4-dimensional spacetime, y are the coordinates of the extra dimensions and  $g_{(4+d)}$  is the metric of the 4 + ddimensional universe. Recall that we are restricted to flat extra dimensions and require that the metric is factorizable. Thus, the line element given by the metric becomes

$$ds^2 = g_{\mu\nu}(x)dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} - \delta_{ab}dy^a dy^b.$$
(4.6)

The brane fields in turn form the action

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{brane}}[\varphi] = \int d^4x d^dy \sqrt{|g(4)|} \mathcal{L}(\varphi(x)) \delta^d(y - y_0), \qquad (4.7)$$

where the *d*-dimensional  $\delta$  function fixes the position of the brane to  $y_0$  in the bulk and  $g_{(4)}$  denotes the effective 4-dimensional metric. Finally, the brane-bulk action between a bulk field  $\phi(x, y)$  and a fermionic field  $\psi(x)$  on the brane is

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{brane-bulk}} = \int d^4x d^dy \sqrt{|g_{(4)}|} \phi(x,y) \bar{\psi}(x) \psi(x) \delta^d(y-y_0).$$
(4.8)

To better understand the dynamics of the model one usually integrates over the extra dimensions. This procedure yields a 4-dimensional effective action. To demonstrate how this works we consider a 5-dimensional toy model, where the extra dimension is compactified on a circle of radius Rand a scalar field  $\phi(x, y)$  propagates in the bulk. The action is

$$\mathcal{S}[\phi] = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x dy \left(\partial^A \phi \partial_A \phi - m^2 \phi^2\right),\tag{4.9}$$

where the index A = 0, ..., 4. If the compactification of the extra dimension is reflected in the periodicity of the scalar field  $\phi(y) = \phi(y + 2\pi R)$ , then the scalar field can be Fourier expanded as

$$\phi(x,y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \phi_0(x) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi R}} \left[ \phi_n(x) \cos\left(\frac{ny}{R}\right) + \hat{\phi}_n(x) \sin\left(\frac{ny}{R}\right) \right].$$
(4.10)

Here  $\phi_0(x)$  is referred to as the zero mode and it is independent of the extra dimension. The Fourier modes  $\phi_n$  and  $\hat{\phi}_n$  are the Kaluza-Klein (KK) modes. Introducing (4.10) into (4.9) and integrating over the extra dimension y yields

$$\mathcal{S}[\phi] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \left( \partial^\mu \phi_n \partial_\mu \phi_n - m_n^2 \phi_n^2 \right)$$

$$+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \left( \partial^\mu \hat{\phi}_n \partial_\mu \hat{\phi}_n - m_n^2 \hat{\phi}_n^2 \right)$$

$$(4.11)$$

with  $m_n^2 = m^2 + n^2/R^2$ . Thus, in four dimensions the higher dimensional field appears as an infinite tower of fields with masses  $m_n$ .

#### 4.2.1 Localization of fermions inside fat branes

A novel mechanism that can suppress proton decay induced by the variations of extra dimensional models was introduced in [145]-[147]. The model suggests that SM fermions are trapped inside a wall of size L at different points while SM gauge fields and the Higgs boson are free to propagate inside the wall. Couplings between fermions are suppressed because of the exponentially small overlaps of their wave functions. In particular, this suppression is needed in interactions between quarks and leptons that induce proton decay, and exponential suppression results if leptons and quarks sit at the opposite ends of the wall. The requirement that quarks and leptons live at the opposite ends of the wall comes from proton decay and not from the scenario itself.

We illustrate how fermion wave functions can be localized on the brane in a 5-dimensional model. Translational invariance in the fifth dimension is broken by a bulk scalar field  $\Phi$  that develops a VEV  $\langle \Phi \rangle$  that depends on the fifth dimension coordinate y. The VEV assumes the form of a domain wall centered at y = 0, and the zero mode of a bulk fermion is localized at the zero of  $\langle \Phi \rangle(y)$ . A single fermion case is described by the action

$$\mathcal{S} = \int d^4x dy \bar{\Psi} [i\Gamma^A \partial_A + \langle \Phi \rangle] \Psi, \qquad (4.12)$$

where

$$\Gamma^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{\mu} \\ \bar{\sigma}^{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \mu = 0, ..., 3, \qquad \Gamma^{4} = i \begin{pmatrix} -\mathbb{I} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbb{I} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.13)

The bulk fermion  $\Psi$  is a four component spinor with the chiral decompositions

$$\Psi_L(x,y) = \sum_n f_n(y)\psi_{nL}(x),$$
  

$$\Psi_R(x,y) = \sum_n g_n(y)\psi_{nR}(y),$$
(4.14)

where  $\psi_{nL,R}$  are four component spinors. By solving

$$(\partial_y + \langle \Phi \rangle) f_0 = 0, \qquad (-\partial_y + \langle \Phi \rangle) g_0 = 0$$
 (4.15)

we obtain the zero mode profiles

$$f_0(y) \sim \exp\left[-\int_0^y ds \langle \Phi \rangle(s)\right], \qquad g_0(y) \sim \exp\left[\int_0^y ds \langle \Phi \rangle(s)\right]$$
(4.16)

that are normalizable in finite space. For  $\langle \Phi \rangle(y) = 2\mu^2 y$  the mode  $f_0$  becomes centered at y = 0 and has the Gaussian form

$$f_0(y) = \frac{\mu^2}{(\pi/2)^{1/4}} \exp[-\mu^2 y^2]$$
(4.17)

and thus the left-handed massless fermion has been localized. If  $\Psi$  couples to  $-\Phi$ , the right-handed part is localized and the left-handed part is pushed to the other end of space.

#### 4.2.2 Neutrinos in brane-bulk models

SM singlet neutrino can reside in the bulk while SM particles live on the brane [148]-[167]. The bulk neutrino can be expressed by two Weyl spinors  $\Psi = (\psi_1, \psi_2)^T$ . If the extra dimension is compactified on a circle with  $Z_2$  orbifold,  $S^1/Z_2$ , then  $\psi_1$  can be taken to be even under  $y \to -y$  and  $\psi_2$  is taken to be odd. If now the left-handed brane neutrino is restricted to the orbifold fixed point y = 0, then only the coupling to the even right-handed  $\psi_1$  survives and the action is given by

$$\mathcal{S} = \int d^4x dy \left[ i \bar{\Psi} \Gamma^A \partial_A \Psi + \left( \frac{h}{\sqrt{M}} \delta(y) \nu_L^{\dagger} H \psi_1 + \text{h.c.} \right) \right], \quad (4.18)$$

where A = 0, ..., 4.

The limit placed on neutrino couplings by the orbifold condition can be lifted if the brane is shifted. This mechanism exists in Type I string theory [169]. If the brane neutrinos can be located at a general coordinate  $y^*$  instead of orbifold fixed points and Fourier expansions are written for the higher dimensional spinors  $\psi_{1,2}$ 

$$\psi_1(x,y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \psi_1^{(n)}(x) \cos\left(\frac{ny}{R}\right)$$
  
$$\psi_2(x,y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi R}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi_2^{(n)}(x) \sin\left(\frac{ny}{R}\right), \qquad (4.19)$$

then the coupling term  $\bar{\nu}_L(\Psi + \Psi^c)|_{y^*}$ +h.c. gives

$$m\nu_L^{\dagger} \left\{ \psi_1^{(0)} + \sqrt{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[ \cos\left(\frac{ny^*}{R}\right) \psi_1^{(n)} + \sin\left(\frac{ny^*}{R}\right) \psi_2^{(n)c} \right] \right\} + \text{h.c.}, \quad (4.20)$$

where the upper index c refers to charge conjugation.

The effective 4-dimensional brane-bulk coupling in (4.18) is suppressed by the size of the extra dimension R. The brane neutrino couples to the kth mode with strength  $h/\sqrt{2\pi RM}$  and in the general case of d extra dimensions this becomes  $h/\sqrt{V_d M^d}$ . If we recall the relation (4.3), then the effective coupling is  $hM/M_{\rm Pl}$  which holds for any number of extra dimensions.

After electroweak symmetry breaking the Higgs field develops a VEV and this induces a mass for the brane neutrino. This mass is given by [148]-[150] (see also the review in [168])

$$m_{\nu} = \frac{hvM}{M_{\rm Pl}}.\tag{4.21}$$

With  $M \sim 10 - 100$  TeV the neutrino mass is  $m_{\nu} \simeq (10^{-3} - 10^{-2})h$  eV and by setting the coupling  $h \sim 10$  the neutrino mass  $m_{\nu}$  attains values relevant in neutrino oscillations. The kth KK mode has mass  $m_k = kR^{-1}$  and the mixing angle is  $\sqrt{2}m_{\nu}R/k$ .

The existence of an infinite tower of KK modes of singlet neutrinos can influence neutrino oscillations. The KK modes emerge with increasing mass and decreasing mixing. Analyses performed in [151, 155, 157, 160, 162] and [165]-[167] suggest the size of the extra dimension has to satisfy

$R^{-1}$	$\geq$	$0.02~{\rm eV}$	hierarchical spectrum,	
$R^{-1}$	$\geq$	$0.22~{\rm eV}$	inverted spectrum,	(4.22)
$R^{-1}$	$\geq$	4.1  eV	degenerate spectrum.	

# 4.3 Leptogenesis from bulk neutrinos in a split fermion scenario

The research articles [1] and [2] consider a model with bulk neutrinos and split fermions, which have been previously studied in [170]-[177], from the point of view of leptogenesis. The first version of this model was originally

introduced in [178] and it had to be modified in order to produce CP violation. Leptogenesis in large flat extra dimensions has been considered before [179] with all the KK modes but without split fermions. Our treatment, on the other hand, concentrates on the effective model that includes the brane neutrinos and the bulk zero mode. In addition, a key feature of our model is the fat brane that accommodates split fermions, which allows for brane-bulk couplings away from orbifold fixed points.

#### 4.3.1 The effective model

The model consists of a Dirac neutrino  $\Psi = (\psi_+, \psi_-)^T$  propagating in the bulk and left-handed brane neutrinos  $\nu_{\alpha}$  with  $\alpha$  denoting flavor. The split fermion idea introduced in chapter 4.1 also emerges as the brane neutrinos reside at different locations  $y_{\alpha}$  in the extra dimensions and their wave functions are described by the Gaussian

$$\nu_{\alpha}(x,y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sigma}} \exp\left(-\frac{\pi}{2} \frac{(y-y_{\alpha})^2}{\sigma^2}\right) \nu_{\alpha}(x).$$
(4.23)

Brane-bulk interactions between the brane neutrinos, bulk neutrino and Higgs field give rise to the 4D mass terms [1]

$$S_{\text{mass}} = \int d^4x \Big\{ \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n_f} \nu_{\alpha}^{\dagger}(x) \Big[ m\psi_0^{(0)c} + \sum_{n>0} \left( m_{n,+}^{\alpha} \psi_+^{(n)c}(x) + m_{n,-}^{\alpha} \psi_-^{(n)}(x) \right) \Big] + \text{h.c.} \\ + \sum_{n>0} \frac{n}{R} \Big( \psi_+^{(n)\dagger}(x) \psi_-^{(n)}(x) + \psi_-^{(n)\dagger}(x) \psi_+^{(n)}(x) \Big) \Big\},$$
(4.24)

where  $\psi_{+}^{(n)}$  are now left-handed and even under the  $Z_2$  symmetry  $y \to -y$ and the right-handed  $\psi_{-}^{(n)}$  are odd. In contrast to [178], the couplings  $m_{n,-}^{\alpha}$  are now complex which is necessary for CP violation. The Yukawa interactions with the Higgs field are

$$S_Y = \int d^4x \sum_{\alpha=1}^{n_f} \nu_{\alpha}^{\dagger}(x) \Big[ \frac{mh(x)}{v} \psi_+^{(0)c}(x) + \sum_{n>0} \Big( \frac{m_{n,+}^{\alpha}h(x)}{v} \psi_+^{(n)c}(x) + \frac{m_{n,-}^{\alpha}h(x)}{v} \psi_-^{(n)}(x) \Big) \Big] + \text{h.c.}(4.25)$$

One of the objectives in [178, 1] was to determine the mass spectrum of the system when the higher KK modes decouple. What remains are the zero mode  $\psi_{+}^{(0)}$  and the brane neutrinos  $\nu_{\alpha}$ . In order to obtain a viable mass spectrum from the effective mass matrix

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}_L = \begin{pmatrix} m_{\alpha\beta} & m \\ m & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.26}$$

$$m = M_* \sqrt{\frac{\sigma}{\pi R}},\tag{4.27}$$

$$m_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{M_*^2\sigma}{2} \left\{ e^{i\delta_\beta} \left[ \operatorname{Erf}\left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2\sigma}(y_\alpha + y_\beta)\right) - \operatorname{Erf}\left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2\sigma}(y_\alpha - y_\beta)\right) \right] + e^{i\delta_\alpha} \left[ \operatorname{Erf}\left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2\sigma}(y_\alpha + y_\beta)\right) + \operatorname{Erf}\left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2\sigma}(y_\alpha - y_\beta)\right) \right] \right\}$$
(4.28)

with at least one light state  $\chi_1$  corresponding to the observed light neutrinos and two heavy unstable states,  $\chi_2$  and  $\chi_3$ , the number of brane neutrinos has to be  $n_f = 2$ . Thus, one extra left-handed brane neutrino that is a SM singlet needs to be included.

By solving the eigenvalues of (4.26 in the weak coupling limit  $mR \ll 1$  one obtains the masses for the light neutrino  $\chi_1$  and two heavy neutrinos  $\chi_{2,3}$ . The weak coupling implies to  $M_*^2 \sigma \ll m$  which allows us to find approximate expressions for the heavy masses

$$m_2 \simeq \left| -\sqrt{2}m + \frac{1}{2}m_{12} + \frac{1}{4}(m_{11} + m_{22}) \right|,$$
 (4.29)

$$m_3 \simeq \left|\sqrt{2}m + \frac{1}{2}m_{12} + \frac{1}{4}(m_{11} + m_{22})\right|$$
 (4.30)

and the light neutrino mass

$$m_1 \simeq \left| \frac{1}{2} (m_{11} + m_{22}) - m_{12} \right|.$$
 (4.31)

Thus, the spectrum contains two quasidegenerate heavy neutrinos that can decay to the light neutrino and produce lepton asymmetry.

#### 4.3.2 CP violation

The nonvanishing CP violation arises from the out-of-equilibrium decays of the two heavy mass eigenstates  $\chi_{2,3}$  into the light state  $\chi_1$  and Higgs doublet, see Feynman diagrams in Fig. 4.2 for the decays of  $\chi_2$ . The



Figure 4.2: The relevant Feynman diagrams for the process  $\chi_2 \rightarrow \chi_{1L} H^{\dagger}$ . The tree level diagram due to the decay of  $\chi_2$  to a neutrino and Higgs is in Fig. 4.2(a). Fig. 4.2(b) and 4.2(c) depict the mixing diagrams due to the the decay of  $\chi_2$  to a light neutrino and Higgs.

complex phases we have introduced in the brane-bulk couplings (4.24) and (4.25) are essential in producing the asymmetry.

The hierarchy in the neutrino mass spectrum reveals which diagrams in [2] are the chief sources of CP violation. Since we have a quasidegenerate spectrum of heavy neutrinos with the difference between the heavy neutrino masses being small,  $|m_2 - m_3| \sim M_*^2 \sigma \ll m_{2,3}$ , the major contribution to the CP violation parameter is estimated to come from the diagrams in Fig. 4.2 similar to the tree level Fig. 3.1(a) and mixing diagrams Fig. 3.1(c) [103]-[106].

Our framework departs from earlier considerations [103]-[106] as the condition  $A_{ij} = A_{ji}^*$  of [105] familiar from the SO(10) motivated models is not fulfilled in our scenario [1]. Models in [103]-[106] have right-handed neutrinos with masses close to the GUT scale and thus the SM particles are massless whereas the framework depicted in (4.24) and (4.25) shows that the electroweak phase transition has taken place. Thus, the brane neutrinos have acquired mass terms through the Higgs VEV and the scale of the effective theory containing the zero mode and two brane neutrinos lies in the TeV region. The neutrino spectrum now includes a light neutrino mass that potentially corresponds to one of the mass eigenstates observed in neutrino experiments. Because all the neutrino masses are now included, the couplings are different as we have to pick up the correct interaction component at leading order from the light neutrino  $\chi_1$  running in the loop and from the propagating heavy states  $\chi_{2,3}$ .

With the above considerations we have obtained a lengthy expression for  $\varepsilon$  [1] where higher order Yukawa terms do not cancel as they do in [105]. This is indeed a result of the fact that the light neutrino is now part of the neutrino mass spectrum alongside the unstable heavy states.

#### 4.3.3 Monte Carlo and parameter regions

To better understand the behavior of the CP violation parameter with varying parameters  $\tilde{y}_{1,2}$ ,  $\delta_{1,2}$ , R and the light neutrino mass scale  $M_*^2 \sigma$  we performed Monte Carlo analysis. The idea behind Monte Carlo analysis is the randomization of the various parameters in desired intervals and then imposing a number of constraints. In our case randomized variables were  $\tilde{y}_{1,2}$ ,  $\delta_{1,2}$ , R and  $M_*^2 \sigma$  [2]. The constraints come from the out-of-equilibrium condition of the decays, the washout parameter, the light neutrino mass and most importantly from the observed baryon asymmetry of the universe (2.14) [2].

The parameter scans predict that the radius of the extra dimension R has to be small for the model to produce a correct amount of lepton number and subsequent baryon number [2]. This brings the masses of the heavy states to the TeV scale, which is also required.

The higher order Yukawa terms  $\sim m^4 A_{ij}^2$  need to be included in  $\varepsilon$  so that sufficient CP violation is generated. These terms correspond to higher order diagrams with more loops but these higher order diagrams would be suppressed by the higher powers of m/v which are small,  $(m^2/v^2)m_{2,3} \ll m_{2,3}$ .

#### 4.3.4 Conclusions

We have studied CP violation and leptogenesis in an extra dimensional model with one flat extra dimension of size R where a bulk neutrino propagates while two neutrinos are restricted to the brane. Our setup constrains R to values that are a few orders of magnitude away from the Planck scale. With more extra dimensions the radii could be larger. On the other hand, adding more dimensions would change the hierarchy as the brane bulk coupling becomes suppressed by additional factors  $\sigma/R$ .

Direct comparisons to neutrino oscillation experiments could be drawn if the number of brane neutrinos is increased to four. This would produce three light neutrinos and two heavy ones that are unstable and decay to the lighter states. When it comes to sub-eV sterile neutrinos [180, 181], even more brane neutrinos have to be added to the framework so that comparisons could be drawn to 3+2 models.

As the light neutrino and unstable heavier neutrinos become intertwined in the mass spectrum, higher order term become important in the CP violation parameter. This scenario departs from earlier considerations where the unstable neutrinos have masses in the GUT scale while SM states remain massless because the electroweak phase transition has not occurred.

### Chapter 5

## Leptogenesis in supersymmetric models

Supersymmetry is another approach used to solve the hierarchy problem discussed earlier, and there are high expectations of discovering supersymmetric particles at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC). Supersymmetry doubles the particle content compared to the SM, giving each SM fermion a bosonic partner, a sfermion, and likewise each SM boson receives a fermionic partner. If the loop corrections to the Higgs boson mass are reconsidered, the bosonic and fermionic contributions cancel and no fine tuning is needed. Also, within supersymmetry all three SM gauge couplings become equal at an energy scale  $\sim 10^{16}$  GeV thus making supersymmetry a viable GUT theory. As much attention is devoted to supersymmetric models and LHC is driving to observe supersymmetric particles, this chapter is devoted to supersymmetric models that can also accommodate leptogenesis.

The first section of this chapter gives a general idea of supersymmetry following the reviews [182, 8, 183] and supersymmetric leptogenesis. Soft leptogenesis is reviewed in the second section and the third introduces a new supersymmetric source of CP violation and lepton asymmetry and our research [3].

#### 5.1 Unbroken supersymmetry and leptogenesis

Although up to eight supersymmetries are possible in four dimensions, the case N = 1 is probably the only one relevant for particle physics. The reason is that N > 1 theories are nonchiral and it is difficult to introduce supersymmetry breaking into them. Two irreducible representations are found in N = 1 supersymmetry, and these are the chiral and vector superfields. Chiral superfields  $\Phi(\theta, \bar{\theta}, x)$  contain a Weyl spinor  $\psi_{\alpha}(x)$ , a superpartner complex scalar field  $\phi(x)$  and an auxiliary field F(x) and also anticommuting Grassmann variables  $\theta, \bar{\theta}$  are included in their expansions. Vector superfields  $V(\theta, \bar{\theta}, x)$  contain a Weyl spinor  $\lambda_{\alpha}(x)$ , a superpartner vector field  $A_{\mu}(x)$  and an auxiliary field D(x).

#### 5.1.1 Supersymmetric Lagrangian and scalar potential

To write a supersymmetric Lagrangian chiral superfields  $\Phi_i$  transforming in different representations of a gauge group G are considered. A vector superfield  $V^a$  is introduced for every generator of the gauge group. The most general superspace Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L} = \sum_{i} \int d^{4}\theta \Phi_{i}^{\dagger} e^{V} \Phi_{i} + \sum_{a} \frac{1}{4g_{a}^{2}} \int d^{2}\theta W_{\alpha}^{2} + \text{c.c.} + \int d^{2}\theta W(\Phi_{i}) + \text{c.c.}(5.1)$$

where the chiral and vector superfields  $V = V^a T^a$  in Wess-Zumino gauge are

$$\Phi(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = \phi(x) + \sqrt{2}\theta\psi(x) + \theta^2 F + \dots,$$
  

$$V(x,\theta,\bar{\theta}) = -\theta\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\lambda}A_{\mu} + i\theta^2\bar{\theta}\bar{\lambda} - i\bar{\theta}^2\theta\lambda + \frac{1}{2}\theta^2\bar{\theta}^2 D, \qquad (5.2)$$

the chiral superfield

$$W_{\alpha} = -i\lambda_{\alpha} + \theta_{\alpha}D - \frac{i}{2}(\sigma^{\mu}\bar{\sigma}^{\nu}\theta)_{\alpha}F_{\mu\nu} + \theta^{2}\sigma^{\mu}_{\alpha\dot{\beta}}\partial_{\mu}\bar{\lambda}^{\dot{\beta}}$$
(5.3)

is the analog of gauge invariant field strength and  $W(\Phi)$  is a holomorphic function of chiral superfields known as the superpotential. The superpotential can be at most cubic in the chiral fields to ensure renormalizability.

The scalar potential describes the interactions between the scalar fields that belong to the chiral supermultiplets. It is given by

$$V(\phi_i, \phi_i^*) = \sum_i |F_i|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_a D_a D^a,$$
(5.4)

where the auxiliary fields  $F_i$  and  $D_a$  are given by the equations of motion

$$F_i = -\frac{\partial W^*}{\partial \phi_i},$$
  

$$D_a = -g_a \phi^{\dagger} T^a \phi \qquad (5.5)$$

with  $\phi = (\phi_1, ..., \phi_n)^T$ .

#### 5.1.2 Minimal Supersymmetric SM

The simplest supersymmetric version of the SM is known as the Minimal Supersymmetric SM (MSSM) and it is built on the same gauge group as the SM,  $SU(3)_C \times SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ . All SM fermions are assigned to separate chiral supermultiplets according to whether they are  $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  doublets or singlets. The fermions sit in the supermultiplets with their scalar partners, the sfermions. Gauge fields are in vector supermultiplets and they receive fermionic spin 1/2 partners, the gauginos. Two Higgs supermultiplets are also included.

Interactions among the chiral superfields are described by the superpotential

$$W = \bar{u}\mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{u}}QH_u - \bar{d}\mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{d}}QH_d - \bar{e}\mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{e}}LH_d + \mu H_u H_d, \qquad (5.6)$$

where Q and L stand for the chiral quark and lepton supermultiplets, respectively. The former contains left-handed quarks and their superpartners, the squarks, and similarly the latter includes  $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  doublet lefthanded leptons and scalar sleptons. The supermultiplets  $\bar{u}$  and  $\bar{d}$  contain  $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$  singlet right-handed quarks and corresponding squarks, which are now different from the squarks in the left-handed supermultiplets, and  $\bar{e}$  stands for the supermultiplets that contain right-handed charged leptons and their superpartners that are again different from the sleptons in L. Two Higgs supermultiplets  $H_u$  with Y = +1/2 and  $H_d$  with Y = -1/2are needed to cancel the electroweak gauge anomaly and to make the superpotential analytic. Both supermultiplets comprise fermionic partners of the scalar Higgses, the higgsinos.

More terms besides the ones in (5.6) can be included in the superpoten-

tial. The additional terms

$$W_{\Delta L=1} = \frac{1}{2} \lambda^{ijk} L_i L_j \bar{e}_k + \lambda'^{ijk} L_i Q_j \bar{d}_k + \mu'^i L_i H_u,$$
  

$$W_{\Delta B=1} = \frac{1}{2} \lambda''^{ijk} \bar{u}_i \bar{d}_j \bar{d}_k$$
(5.7)

violate lepton and baryon numbers by one unit. What speaks against these additions is the fact that the proton is stable. Excluding baryon and lepton number violating terms can be done by invoking a new symmetry called R parity [184] or matter parity [185]-[188]. The corresponding matter parity quantum number for each particle is

$$P_M = (-1)^{3(B-L)}. (5.8)$$

Quark and lepton supermultiplets have  $P_M = -1$  while the Higgs supermultiplets, gauge bosons and gauginos are all even  $P_M = +1$ . Terms in the superpotential are allowed if the product of all  $P_M = +1$ . Moving from matter parity to R parity introduces the quantum number

$$P_R = (-1)^{3(B-L)+2s}, (5.9)$$

where s is the spin of the particle. Particles within the same supermultiplet have different R parities, and all SM particles and Higgs bosons have  $P_R = +1$  whereas squarks, sleptons, gauginos and higgsinos have  $P_R = -1$ .

The importance of R parity becomes obvious if MSSM conserves R parity. First, the lightest supersymmetric particle with  $P_R = -1$  has to be stable. A neutral lightest supersymmetric particle would provide for a promising candidate for nonbaryonic dark matter [189, 190]. Each supersymmetric partner must decay to an odd number of light supersymmetric particles. Finally, collider experiments can produce processes where even numbers of sparticles can emerge at a time.

#### 5.1.3 MSSM extended with right-handed neutrinos

A supersymmetric version of leptogenesis was first considered in [90] where singlet neutrino chiral superfields were added to the superpotential. The additional piece to the superpotential is

$$W = \frac{1}{2}M_i N_i N_i + h_{ij}\varepsilon_{\alpha\beta}L_i^{\alpha}H^{\beta}N_j.$$
(5.10)

Here the masses  $M_i$  provide lepton number violation and the complex Yukawa couplings are the source for CP violation as before. New contributions to CP violation now arise as the supersymmetric partners of leptons and the Higgs bosons can now run in the loops of Figs. 3.1(b) and 3.1(c). Also, the final states in diagrams in Fig. 3.1 can now consist of sleptons and higgsinos, the superpartners of leptons and Higgs bosons. There is also another source for the asymmetry as the superpartners of the singlet neutrinos can decay into leptons and sleptons.

#### 5.2 Supersymmetry breaking and leptogenesis

The fact that no superpartners of the SM particles have been observed implies that supersymmetry is broken. If global supersymmetry is spontaneously broken in the vacuum state, then the total energy has the expectation value

$$\langle H \rangle = \frac{1}{4} \left( \|Q_1^{\dagger}|0\rangle\|^2 + \|Q_1|0\rangle\| + \|Q_2^{\dagger}|0\rangle\|^2 + \|Q_2|0\rangle\|^2 \right) > 0, \qquad (5.11)$$

where  $Q_{\alpha}$  and  $Q_{\dot{\alpha}}^{\dagger}$  are supersymmetry generators. Supersymmetry is spontaneously broken if either the *F*-term  $F_i$  [191] or the *D*-term  $D^a$  [192, 193] is nonvanishing in the ground state. Spontaneous supersymmetry breaking predicts the existence of Nambu-Goldstone particle, which in this case is a fermionic Weyl fermion, the goldstino. The goldstino is the fermionic partner of the auxiliary field and these two reside in the same supermultiplet.

The source for supersymmetry breaking in the MSSM is believed to come from a hidden sector whose particles do not interact with the chiral fields of the MSSM or these sectors couple very weakly. The mediated supersymmetry breaking is thought to have two possible routes. The first setup considers gravity-mediated supersymmetry breaking where the supersymmetry breaking scale sits somewhere between the electroweak and Planck scales. The second approach is gauge-mediated supersymmetry breaking where new chiral supermultiplets have MSSM gauge interactions and couple to the supersymmetry breaking  $\langle F \rangle$ . In this case the supersymmetry breaking scale can be as low as the electroweak scale.

#### 5.2.1 Soft supersymmetry breaking

Mechanisms that break supersymmetry at energy scales above the electroweak scale produce terms that explicitly break supersymmetry in the low energy effective theory. By ignoring the actual source of supersymmetry breaking, soft supersymmetry breaking terms can be written for the scalar fields of the theory and the couplings should have positive mass dimension which ensures the hierarchy between the electroweak and Planck scales. The general form of the soft supersymmetry breaking Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{soft}} = -\frac{1}{2} \Big( M_a \lambda^a \lambda^a + \frac{1}{3} a^{ijk} \phi_i \phi_j \phi_k + b^{ij} \phi_i \phi_j + t^i \phi_i \Big) + \text{h.c.} (5.12) - (m^2)^i_j \phi^{j*} \phi_i.$$

The tadpole couplings  $t^i$  are reserved for singlet fields  $\phi_i$ .

Applying the above priciples to the MSSM gives the supersymmetry preserving and supersymmetry breaking Lagrangians with the total being  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{SUSY} + \mathcal{L}_{soft}$ . Writing the soft terms for the MSSM gives

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{soft}}^{\text{MSSM}} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( M_3 \tilde{g} \tilde{g} + M_2 \widetilde{W} \widetilde{W} + M_1 \tilde{B} \tilde{B} + \text{c.c} \right) - \tilde{u} \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{u}} \tilde{Q} H_u - \tilde{d} \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{d}} \tilde{Q} H_d - \tilde{e} \mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{e}} \tilde{L} H_d + \text{c.c.} \right) - \tilde{Q}^{\dagger} \mathbf{m}_Q^2 \tilde{Q} - \tilde{L}^{\dagger} \mathbf{m}_L^2 \tilde{L} - \tilde{u} \mathbf{m}_{\tilde{u}}^2 \tilde{u}^{\dagger} - \tilde{d} \mathbf{m}_{\tilde{d}}^2 \tilde{d}^{\dagger} - \tilde{e} \mathbf{m}_{\tilde{e}}^2 \tilde{e}^{\dagger} - m_{H_u}^2 |H_u|^2 - m_{H_d}^2 |H_d|^2 - (bH_u H_d + \text{c.c.}), \quad (5.13)$$

where tilde stands for the superpartner and  $\tilde{g}$ ,  $\widetilde{W}$  and  $\tilde{B}$  are the gluino, wino and bino, respectively. The soft parameters are expected to be  $\sim 1$ TeV so that the Higgs mass would not receive too large corrections that cause the hierarchy problem.

#### 5.2.2 Soft leptogenesis

The inclusion soft supersymmetry breaking causes new effects to arise [194, 195]. The premise is the superpotential

$$W = h_{ij}N_iL_jH + \frac{1}{2}M_{ij}N_iN_j$$

introduced before and the soft supersymmetry breaking terms

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{soft}} = \tilde{m}_{ij}\tilde{N}_i^*\tilde{N}_j + \left(A_{ij}h_{ij}\tilde{N}_i\tilde{\ell}_jH + \frac{1}{2}B_{ij}M_{ij}\tilde{N}_i\tilde{N}_j + \text{h.c.}\right).$$
(5.14)

The new effect is that only one family of singlet neutrinos are needed. The superpartner of the singlet neutrino, corresponding to the sneutrino, is sufficient to produce the CP asymmetry.

The sneutrino mass eigenstates  $\tilde{N}_+$  and  $\tilde{N}_-$  are the decaying states of interest. Their masses are split by the soft parameters, and the squared masses are

$$M_{\pm}^2 = M^2 + \tilde{m}^2 \pm |BM|, \qquad (5.15)$$

where M,  $\tilde{m}$  and B arise from the matrices  $M_{ij}$ ,  $\tilde{m}_{ij}$  and  $B_{ij}$  of (5.14), respectively, in the one singlet neutrino generation case. The sneutrinos can decay into fermionic final states that are the lepton and higgsino,  $\tilde{N}_{\pm} \to \ell \tilde{H}$ , and into bosonic final states that include the slepton and Higgs boson,  $\tilde{N}_{\pm} \to \tilde{\ell}H$ . The *CP* violation parameter can be defined as

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\sum_{f} [\Gamma(\tilde{N}_{+} \to f) + \Gamma(\tilde{N}_{-} \to f) - \Gamma(\tilde{N}_{+} \to \bar{f}) - \Gamma(\tilde{N}_{-} \to \bar{f})]}{\sum_{f} [\Gamma(\tilde{N}_{+} \to f) + \Gamma(\tilde{N}_{-} \to f) + \Gamma(\tilde{N}_{-} \to \bar{f}) + \Gamma(\tilde{N}_{-} \to \bar{f})]}$$
(5.16)

with  $f = \tilde{H}\ell$  or  $f = H\tilde{\ell}$ . Because the mass difference is small  $M_+ - M_- = |B| \ll M_{\pm}$ , the largest contribution to (5.16) comes from the mixing diagrams [103]-[106] similar to Fig. 3.1(c) with singlet neutrinos  $N_{1,2}$  now replaced by the sneutrinos  $\tilde{N}_{\pm}$ .

The soft supersymmetry breaking terms induce sneutrino mixing and thus the sneutrino mass eigenstates can generate lepton asymmetry. This scenario departs form non-supersymmetric case in that only one family of singlet neutrinos and their superpartners are needed. Another difference comes from the singlet neutrino mass scale M which in standard leptogenesis scenarios has to obey  $M \gtrsim 10^9$  GeV [196] that is quite large compared to the upper bound of for the reheat temperature  $T_R < 10^7$  GeV mentioned earlier. In soft leptogenesis the mass scale  $M \lesssim 10^9$  GeV and so the reheat temperature and singlet neutrino masses no longer contradict each other.

# 5.3 Leptogenesis from sneutrino-antisneutrino asymmetry

Gauging B - L in supersymmetry extends the model with the gauge group  $U(1)_{B-L}$ , and a new source for CP violation and leptogenesis is obtained

[197]. If the MSSM is augmented with singlet neutrinos and B-L symmetry which is broken when SM singlets  $\Delta$  and  $\overline{\Delta}$  obtain VEVs, new heavy mass eigenstates emerge. These states can decay asymmetrically into sneutrinos and antisneutrinos thus providing lepton asymmetry before the standard soft leptogenesis or non-supersymmetric leptogenesis mechanisms take effect.

#### 5.3.1 The model with MSSM Higgs sector

Gauging B - L in the MSSM can be done with the help of new chiral superfields  $\Delta$ ,  $\overline{\Delta}$ , S and  $N_i$  with B - L charges -2, +2, 0 and +1, respectively. The fields  $\Delta$  and  $\overline{\Delta}$  develop large vacuum expectation values and thus form B - L breaking Majorana masses for the singlet neutrinos  $N_i$ . The superpotential is

$$W^{(B-L)} = \lambda S(\Delta \bar{\Delta} - M^2) + \frac{1}{2} f_{ij} N_i N_j \Delta + Y_{\nu}^{\alpha i} L_{\alpha} N_i H_u + \mu H_u H_d + M_1 S^2 + M_2 \Delta \bar{\Delta} + Y_1 S^3 + Y_3 S H_u H_d, \qquad (5.17)$$

where the first line is from the setup considered in [197]. The second line is an addition we have made [3] and it couples the MSSM Higgs sector to the B - L breaking sector via the superfield S.

Interactions between the chiral superfields  $\Delta$ ,  $\Delta$ , S and the vector superfield  $\mathcal{V}_B$  coming from the gauge group  $U(1)_{B-L}$  are given by the Kähler Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{D}^{(B-L)} = \int d^{4}\theta \Big( \Delta^{\dagger} e^{q_{\Delta}g_{B}\mathcal{V}_{B}} \Delta + \bar{\Delta}^{\dagger} e^{-q_{\Delta}g_{B}\mathcal{V}_{B}} \bar{\Delta} + \sum_{i} \Phi_{i}^{\dagger} e^{q_{i}g_{B}\mathcal{V}_{B}} \Phi_{i} \Big).$$
(5.18)

Here  $\Phi_i$  denote the chiral superfields of MSSM and  $q_{\Delta,i}$  denote the B - L charges of the superfields  $\Delta$  and  $\Phi_i$ . By moving to unitary gauge

$$\Delta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|M| + \Delta_0) e^{q_\Delta g_B \Delta'}$$
  
$$\bar{\Delta} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|M| + \Delta_0) e^{-q_\Delta g_B \Delta' + i\phi}$$
(5.19)

and making the supersymmetric transformations

$$\mathcal{V}_B = \mathcal{V}_B^0 - \Delta' - \Delta'^\dagger \tag{5.20}$$

$$\Phi_i \to e^{q_i g_B \Delta'} \Phi_i \tag{5.21}$$

the Kähler Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_{D}^{(B-L)} = \int d^{4}\theta \Big[ (|M|^{2} + |M|(\Delta_{0} + \Delta_{0}^{\dagger}) + \Delta_{0}^{\dagger}\Delta_{0}) \cosh(q_{\Delta}g_{B}\mathcal{V}_{B}^{0}) \\ + \sum_{i} \Phi_{i}^{\dagger} e^{q_{i}g_{B}\mathcal{V}_{B}^{0}} \Phi_{i} \Big].$$
(5.22)

After integrating out the gauge vector superfield  $\mathcal{V}_B^0$  the effective theory couplings for the interactions  $(\Delta_0^{\dagger} + \Delta_0)(\sum_i \Phi_i^{\dagger} q_i \Delta_i)^2$ ,  $\Delta_0^{\dagger} \Delta_0 (\sum_i \Phi_i^{\dagger} q_i \Phi_i)^2$ and  $(\Delta_0^2 + \Delta_0^{\dagger 2})(\sum_i \Phi_i^{\dagger} q_i \Phi_i)^2$  go as  $1/|M|^3$ ,  $1/|M|^4$  and  $1/|M|^4$ , respectively. Thus, interactions of MSSM superfields with  $\Delta_0$  and  $\Delta_0^{\dagger}$  via exchange of the gauge superfield are suppressed by terms at least  $1/|M|^3$ .

Like any supersymmetric theory also this model has to exhibit supersymmetry breaking which is introduced by the soft supersymmetry breaking potential

$$V_{\text{soft}}^{(B-L)} = [bH_uH_d + a_1S + b_1S^2 + b_2\Delta\bar{\Delta} + c_1S^3 + c_2S\Delta\bar{\delta} + c_3SH_uH_d + \frac{A_ff_{ij}}{2}\delta\tilde{N}_i\tilde{N}_j] + \text{h.c.} + m_{H_u}^2|H_u|^2 + m_{H_d}^2|H_d|^2 + m_S|S|^2 + m_{\Delta}|\Delta|^2 + m_{\bar{\Delta}}^2|\bar{\Delta}|^2.$$
(5.23)

Supersymmetry breaking causes splittings in the masses of S,  $\Delta$  and  $\overline{\Delta}$  and shifts  $\langle S \rangle$ . Eq. (5.19) shows the transformation made to  $\Delta$  and  $\overline{\Delta}$  as we move to unitary gauge. After this transformation the mass spectrum for the scalar particles  $H_u$ ,  $H_d$ , S and  $\Delta_0$  can be found from the scalar potential  $V_F + V_D + V_{\text{soft}}$  by use of perturbation theory.

The mass spectrum consists of four Higgs bosons that correspond to the ones found in the MSSM and four heavier boson states originating from the B - L sector. The mass eigenstates are denoted by  $X_i$  while the original states are  $X'_i = (\text{Re}H_u, \text{Im}H_u, \text{Re}H_d, \text{Im}H_d, \text{Re}S, \text{Im}S, \text{Re}\Delta_0, \text{Im}\Delta_0)$  and

$$X'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{8} n_{ij} X_{j}.$$
 (5.24)

The coefficients  $n_{ij}$  form the matrix that diagonalizes the mass matrix that is given in the non-diagonal basis  $X'_i$ . The real states  $X_6$ ,  $X_7$  and  $X_8$ corresponding to the Higgs bosons of the MSSM receive corrections from the B - L sector and thus the direct couplings  $Y_3$  and  $c_3$  have to be sufficiently small. The four states  $X_2, ..., X_5$  are heavy with quasidegenerate masses  $(M_{X_2}, M_{X_3}, M_{X_4}, M_{X_5}) \sim M$  and couple to the sneutrinos. The masses  $M_{X_i}$  and the diagonalizing matrix have been obtained by the use of perturbtion theory as described in the Appendix of [3].

#### 5.3.2 New source for *CP* violation

CP violation arises from the decays of the states  $X_2, ..., X_5$ , Fig. 5.1, into sneutrinos and antisneutrinos, which induces an initial asymmetry in the abundances of sneutrinos and antisneutrinos. This influences the decays of sneutrinos and antisneutrinos into MSSM leptons, antileptons, sleptons and antisleptons which is the case of soft leptogenesis. As we have added new terms to the superpotential (5.17), CP violation arises not only from the soft potential but from (5.17) as well, this mechanism of generating lepton number via sneutrino-antisneutrino asymmetry is not soft leptogenesis.



Figure 5.1: The relevant tree level and loop diagrams depicting the decay of the heavy mass states  $X_2, ..., X_5$  to sneutrinos. Sneutrinos or their fermionic partners can run in the loop.

Monte Carlo analysis with constraints including the out-of-equilibrium condition, the correct hierarchy for the MSSM Higgs boson masses, correct magnitude for  $\varepsilon$  that produces (2.14) and an ad hoc limit to the degeneracy of the heavy boson masses reveals various aspects of the model. First, it shows that the decay channels  $X_2 \to X_3^* \to \tilde{N}\tilde{N}$  and  $X_3 \to X_2^* \to \tilde{N}\tilde{N}$ dominate with scan values shown in Table I of [3]. The mass difference  $|M_{X_2} - M_{X_3}|$ , Fig. 2(a) in [3] lies in the region  $\sim 10^{-5} - 10^{-3}$  TeV whereas
the other differences can be ~ 1 TeV (Fig. 2(b) in [3]), which can induce an enhancement in  $\varepsilon$  although the resonance region is not reached, Fig. 5 in [3]. Secondly, the removal of the constraint on the magnitude of  $\varepsilon$  highlights the difference between the extended model and the model in [197]. The addition of new couplings and the inclusion of the MSSM Higgs sector have introduced more freedom into the model. This is illustrated in the fact that the *CP* violation parameter can even become maximal  $|\varepsilon| \leq 1/2$ . The scenario in [197] includes only the first line of (5.17) and corresponding soft terms, and it is difficult to produce sufficient amounts of *CP* violation, Fig. 3 in [3].

The mass predictions for the right-handed neutrino, sneutrinos and MSSM Higgs bosons differ from those of [197]. As a consequence of the inclusion of the MSSM Higgs bosons, other possible terms for S and  $\Delta$  fields and coupling the B-L sector to the MSSM the singlet neutrino and superpartner sneutrino masses drop from the 1000 TeV scale to ~1-10 TeV. Values favored by the lightest Higgs boson concentrate on the  $\simeq 130$  GeV region while the two heavier Higgses have masses in the TeV region. So the masses of the particles N,  $\tilde{N}$  and  $\tilde{N}^*$  outside the MSSM are lowered in the extended scenario and the lightest Higgs mass tends to be in the lower end of the mass estimates.

## 5.3.3 Conclusions

A novel scenario for producing CP violation and lepton symmetry has been considered. In contrast to generating net lepton number via the asymmetric decays into MSSM (s)leptons and anti(s)leptons, the asymmetry arises between supersymmetric particles beyond the MSSM. By gauging B - L and thus extending MSSM the authors in [197] have found a mechanism that places the abundances of sneutrinos and antisneutrinos into an imbalance that gives a nonzero lepton asymmetry without decays into MSSM particles. The initial asymmetry then influences the eventual decay of sneutrinos and antisneutrinos into MSSM (s)leptons and anti(s)leptons. One of the characteristics of the model in [197] is that producing sufficient CP violation is difficult. Once the scenario is augmented with the MSSM Higgs sector and additional superpotential terms involving the new chiral supermultiplets S,  $\Delta$  and  $\overline{\Delta}$  the system has more freedom with more parameters and larger amounts of CP violation can be obtained.

Besides the increased amount of CP violation, another thing that sets the model in [197] apart from [3] is the fact that singlet neutrino and superpartner sneutrino masses can be ~1-10 TeV as opposed to ~1000 TeV suggested by [197]. As these masses are reduced several orders of magnitude, observing signatures of these particles could become attainable in colliders during the coming years.

Increasing the freedom of the B - L gauged MSSM with the MSSM Higgs sector and other allowed terms brings about flexibility that leads to significantly larger amounts of CP violation. With constraints imposed the higher end of the allowed interval of  $|\varepsilon|$  is favored and once constraints are relaxed  $|\varepsilon|$  can become  $\sim 1/2$ . Thus, it is essential to consider the complete model with all possible S,  $\Delta$ ,  $\overline{\Delta}$  terms and the interaction  $Y_3SH_uH_d$  connecting the B - L breaking sector and MSSM Higgs sector. The complete model where B - L and MSSM sectors are included produces a conclusive picture of the novel source of leptogenesis.

## Chapter 6

## Summary and outlook

Two alternative leptogenesis scenarios have been considered. One incorporates flat extra dimensions with lepton asymmetry generation and the other has local B - L symmetry built in an extension of the MSSM. Both models give rise to a new way of generating lepton asymmetry and consequent net baryon number. Extra dimensions, if observed, would revolutionize the way we understand space and time. Hints of extra dimensions are also likely to lead to the discovery of supersymmetry that lies at the heart of viable string theories. In this thesis, these frameworks serve as the background where leptogenesis is embedded. The other side of the story is provided by the LHC that is scheduled to confirm or disprove the existence of the Higgs boson of the SM by the end of 2012. If supersymmetry and extra dimensions are observed at the LHC [23, 198], the novel leptogenesis mechanisms could become viable explanations of the matter-antimatter asymmetry.

The considerations in this thesis have concentrated on finding new mechanisms of leptogenesis and verifying whether sufficient amounts of net baryon number can be derived from them. A more thorough treatment would be obtained if the Boltzmann equations for both systems were analyzed. This would give a more comprehensive picture of the decay and inverse decay processes that determine the washout factor. As the effectiveness of lepton number generation could become more apparent in a full treatment of the Boltzmann equations, also a better understanding of the parameter regions would result.

The main focus of this thesis has been in the origin of the 5 % portion

of the energy density of the universe while the rest 95 % has remained untouched. However, the matter segments are not necessarily separate. The dark matter content of the universe is estimated to stand at 22-23 % [4] which gives  $\rho_{\rm DM} \simeq 4.5\rho_B$ . Dark matter could then have a common origin with baryonic matter as their abundances are of the same order of magnitude. Moreover, the dark matter abundance could be the result of an asymmetry the same way net baryon number is. This type of dark matter is dubbed asymmetric dark matter [199]. To contrast this, one of the most common scenarios of dark matter is based on weakly interacting massive particles (WIMP) [23] whose density is determined by the freezeout of its annihilations to SM particles, and the source of the relic density is different from that giving the net baryon number of the universe. Unlike the WIMP approach asymmetric dark matter relies on the same baryogenesis mechanism that acts as the source of visible matter-antimatter asymmetry. It also predicts lighter dark matter particles with masses in the GeV region.

If baryogenesis is at the heart of both baryonic and dark matter, a natural question would be to ask whether leptogenesis is responsible for the existence of baryonic and dark matter sectors. This has been explored e.g.in [200] where the right-handed singlet neutrino not only couples to the SM Higgs and lepton doublets but also to the dark matter fermion and scalar field that carry lepton number. Thus, the same mechanism that generates lepton asymmetry can give rise to an asymmetry in the dark matter sector as well.

It is safe to say that numerous interesting descriptions of leptogenesis exist in the most studied extensions of the SM. Supersymmetry and extra dimensions both solve the hierarchy problem that ails the SM and give rise to new effects. A natural way of extending these scenarios further is to incorporate leptogenesis that can explain nonzero neutrino masses and act as an intermediary towards baryogenesis. Another prospect of leptogenesis briefly mentioned here is transcending the border between baryonic and dark matter and showing that these two could in fact have a common origin. Future observations put these scenarios to the test and show whether we have been on the right track on finding ways to describe nature.

## Bibliography

- J. Maalampi, I. Vilja and H. Virtanen, Thermal leptogenesis in a 5D split fermion scenario with bulk neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D82, 013009 (2010).
- [2] H. Kuismanen, J. Maalampi and I. Vilja, Numerical study of leptogenesis in a 5D split fermion model with bulk neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D83, 053005 (2011).
- [3] H. Kuismanen, J. Pelto and I. Vilja, Leptogenesis in B-L gauged SUSY with MSSM Higgs sector, Phys.Rev. D83, 055001 (2011).
- [4] WMAP Collaboration E. Komatsu et al., Seven-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Interpretation, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 192, 18 (2011).
- [5] G. Steigman, When clusters collide: constraints on antimatter on the largest scales, JCAP 0810 (2008) 001.
- [6] A. Kounine, Status of the AMS Experiment, arXiv:1009.5349 [astroph.HE].
- [7] M. Fukugita and T. Yanagida, Baryogenesis Without Grand Unification Phys. Lett. B 174:45 (1986).
- [8] S. P. Martin, A Supersymmetry Primer, hep-ph/9709356.
- [9] J. Polchinski, String Theory, Vol 2 2005 Cambridge (UK), Cambridge University Press.
- S. L. Glashow, Partial Symmetries of Weak Interactions, Nucl. Phys. 22:579-588 (1961); A. Salam and J. C. Ward, Electromagnetic and weak

interactions, Phys. Lett. **13**:168-171 (1964); S. Weinberg, A Model of Leptons, Phys. Rev. Lett. **19**:1264-1266 (1967); A. Salam, Weak and Electromagnetic Interactions, In the Proceedings of 8th Nobel Symposium, Lerum, Sweden, 19-25 May 1968, pp 367-377.

- [11] P. W. Higgs, Broken symmetries, massless particles and gauge fields, Phys. Lett. 12:132-133 (1964); P. W. Higgs, Broken Symmetries and the Masses of Gauge Bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 13:508-509 (1964); G.S. Guralnik, C.R. Hagen and T.W.B. Kibble, Global Conservation Laws and Massless Particles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 13:585-587 (1964); T. W. Kibble, Symmetry breaking in nonAbelian gauge theories, Phys. Rev. 155:1554-1561 (1967).
- [12] S. L. Glashow, J. Iliopoulos and L. Maiani, Weak Interactions with Lepton-Hadron Symmetry, Phys. Rev. D2:1285-1292 (1970); D. J. Gross and F. Wilczek, Ultraviolet Behavior of Nonabelian Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 30:1343-1346 (1973); H. D. Politzer, Reliable Perturbative Results for Strong Interactions?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 30:1346-1349 (1973).
- [13] E. Hubble, A relation between distance and radial velocity among extragalactic nebulae, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 15:168-173 (1929).
- [14] A. A. Penzias and R. W. Wilson, A Measurement of Excess Antenna Temperature at 4080 MC/s, Astrophys. J. 142:419-421 (1965).
- [15] C. L. Bennett et al., Four-Year COB DMR Cosmic Microwave Background Observations: Maps and Basic Results, Astrphys. J. 464:L1-L4 (1996).
- [16] SDSS Colaboration, M. Tegmark et al., Cosmological constraints from the SDSS luminous red galaxies, Phys. Rev. D74, 123507 (2006).
- [17] The 2dFGRS Collaboration, S. Cole et al., The 2dF Galaxy Redshift Survey: power-spectrum analysis of the final data set and cosmological implications, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 362:505-534 (2005).
- [18] S. Dodelson, Modern cosmology 2003 San Diego (Calif.), Academic Press; S. Weinberg, Cosmology 2008 Oxford, Oxford University Press;

E. W. Kolb and M. S. Turner, *The early universe* 1990 Redwood City (Calif.), Addison-Wesley.

- [19] D. H. Lyth and A. R. Liddle, The Primordial Density Perturbation: Cosmology, Inflation and the Origin of Structure 2009 Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.
- [20] A. H. Guth, Inflationary universe: A possible solution to the horizon and flatness problems, Phys. Rev. D23:347-356 (1981).
- [21] A. D. Linde, A new inflationary universe scenario: A possible solution of the horizon, flatness, homogeneity, isotropy and primordial monopole problems, Phys. Lett. B108:389-393 (1982).
- [22] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri and T. Moroi, Big-bang nucleosynthesis and hadronic decay of long-lived massive particles, Phys. Rev. D71, 083502 (2005).
- [23] K. Nakamura *et al.* (Particle Data Group), J. Phys. G 37, 075021 (2010).
- [24] M. S. Turner, Intersection Between Particle Physics and Cosmology, Jerusalem Winter School for Theoretical Physics, ed T. Piran, S. Weinberg, vol. 1, p. 99. Singapore: World Sci. (1986).
- [25] A. D. Sakharov, Violation of CP Invariance, c Asymmetry, and Baryon Asymmetry of the Universe, JETP Lett 5:24-27 (1967).
- [26] M. Kobayashi, T. Maskawa, CP Violation in the Renormalizable Theory of Weak Interaction, Prog. Theor. Phys. 49:652-657 (1973).
- [27] G. 't Hooft, Symmetry Breaking Through Bell-Jackiw Anomalies, Phys. Rev. Lett. 37:8-11 (1976); G. 't Hooft, Computation of the quantum effects due to a four-dimensional pseudoparticle, Phys. Rev. D14:3432-3450 (1976).
- [28] V. A. Kuzmin, V. A. Rubakov and M. E. Shaposhnikov, On the Anomalous Electroweak Baryon Number Nonconservation in the Early Universe, Phys. Lett. B155:36-42 (1985).

- [29] S. Davidson, E. Nardi and Y. Nir, *Leptogenesis*, Phys. Rept. 466:105-177 (2008).
- [30] W. Buchmüller, R. D. Peccei and T. Yanagida, Leptogenesis as the origin of matter, Annu. Rev. Part. Sci. 55:311-355 (2005).
- [31] A. A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, A. S. Shvarts and Y. S. Tyupkin, *Pseudoparticle Solutions of the Yang-Mills Equations*, Phys. Lett. B59:85-87 (1975).
- [32] Mu-Chun Chen, TASI 2006 Lectures on Leptogenesis, hep-ph/0703087.
- [33] F. R. Klinkhamer and N. S. Manton, A Saddle Point Solution in the Weinberg-Salam Theory, Phys. Rev. D30:2212-2220 (1984).
- [34] P. B. Arnold, D. T. Son and L. G. Yaffe, The Hot baryon violation rate is O(α-w<sup>5</sup>T<sup>4</sup>), Phys. Rev. D55:6264-6273 (1997); P. B. Arnold, D. T. Son and L. G. Yaffe, Effective dynamics of hot, soft nonAbelian gauge fields. Color conductivity and log(1/alpha) effects, Phys. Rev. D59, 105020 (1999); D. Bödeker, Effective dynamics of soft non-Abelian gauge fields at finite temperature, Phys. Lett. B426:351-360 (1998); D. Bödeker, From hard thermal loops to Langevin dynamics, Nucl. Phys. B559:502-538 (1999).
- [35] P. Arnold and L. Yaffe, *High temperature color conductivity at next-to-leading log order*, Phys. Rev. D62, 125014 (2000); D. Bödeker, G. D. Moore and K. Rummukainen, *Chern-Simons number diffusion and hard thermal loops on the lattice*, Phys. Rev. D61, 056003 (2000).
- [36] P. B. Arnold and L. McLerran, Sphalerons, Small Fluctuations and Baryon Number Violation in Electroweak Theory, Phys. Rev. D36:581-595 (1987).
- [37] J. A. Harvey and M. S. Turner, Cosmological baryon and lepton number in the presence of electroweak fermion number violation, Phys. Rev. D42:3344-3349 (1990).
- [38] R. N. Mohaptra and X. Zhang, QCD sphalerons at high temperature and baryogenesis at electroweak scale, Phys. Rev. D45:2699-2705 (1992).

- [39] S. Y. Khlebnikov and M. E. Shaposhnikov, The Statistical Theory of Anomalous Fermion Number Nonconservation, Nucl. Phys. B308:885-912 (1988).
- [40] K. Jansen, Status of the finite temperature electroweak phase transition on the lattice, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 47:196-211 (1996).
- [41] J. García-Bellido, D. Grigoriev, A. Kusenko and M. Shaposhnikov, Nonequilibrium electroweak baryogenesis at preheating after inflation, Phys. Rev. D60, 123504 (1999).
- [42] L. M. Krauss and M. Trodden, Baryogenesis below The Electroweak Scale, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83:1502-1505 (1999).
- [43] E. J. Copeland, D. Lyth, A. Rajantie and M. Trodden, *Hybrid inflation and baryogenesis at the TeV scale*, Phys. Rev. D64, 043506 (2001).
- [44] J. Smit and A. Tranberg, Baryon asymmetry from electroweak tachyonic preheating, JHEP 0311 (2003) 016.
- [45] B. van Tent, J. Smit and A. Tranberg, Electroweak-scale inflation, inflaton-Higgs mixing and the scalar spectral index, JCAP 0407 (2004) 003.
- [46] J. M. Cline, *Baryogenesis*, hep-ph/0609145.
- [47] R. E. Marshak and R. N. Mohapatra, Quark-lepton symmetry and B-L as the U(1) generator of the electroweak symmetry group, Phys. Lett. B91:222-224 (1980).
- [48] A. Davidson, *B-L* as the fourth color within an  $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_R \times U(1)$ model, Phys. Rev. D**20**:776-783 (1979).
- [49] I. Affleck and M. Dine, A new mechanism for baryogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B249:361-380 (1985).
- [50] M. Dine, L. Randall and S. Thomas, Supersymmetry Breaking in the Early Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75:398-401 (1995).
- [51] M. Dine, L. Randall and S. Thomas, Baryogenesis from flat directions of the supersymmetric standard model, Nucl. Phys. B458:291-323 (1996).

- [52] K. Enqvist and A. Mazumdar, Cosmological consequences of MSSM flat directions, Phys. Rept. 380:99-234 (2003).
- [53] M. Fujii, K. Hamaguchi and T. Yanagida, Leptogenesis with almost degenerate majorana neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D65, 115012 (2002).
- [54] K. Kumekawa, T. Moroi and T. Yanagida, Flat Potential for Inflaton with a Discrete R-Invariance in Supergravity, Prog. Theor. Phys. 92:437-447 (1994); T. Asaka, K. Hamaguchi, M. Kawasaki and T. Yanagida, Leptogenesis in inflaton decay, Phys. Lett. B464:12-18 (1999); T. Asaka, K. Hamaguchi, M. Kawasaki and T. Yanagida, Leptogenesis in an inflationary universe, Phys. Rev. D61, 083512 (2000); G. F. Giudice, M. Peloso, A. Riotto and Igor Tkachev, Production of massive fermions at preheating and leptogenesis, JHEP 9908 (1999) 014.
- [55] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri and T. Moroi, Big-Bang nucleosynthesis and hadronic decay of long-lived massive particles, Phys. rev. D71, 083502 (2005).
- [56] H. Murayama and T. Yanagida, Leptogenesis in supersymmetric standard model with right-handed neutrino, Phys. Lett. B322:349-354 (1994).
- [57] M. A. Luty, Baryogenesis via Leptogenesis, Phys. Rev. D45:455-465 (1992).
- [58] K. Dick, M. Lindner, M. Ratz and D. Wright, Leptogenesis with Dirac Neutrinos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 84:4039-4042 (2000).
- [59] M. E. Peskin and D. V. Schroeder, An Intrduction to Quantum Field Theory, 1995 Westview Press Colorado USA; S. Weinberg, The Quantum Theory of Fields II, 2005 Cambridge University Press, Cambridge UK; M. Srednicki, Quantum Field Theory, 2007 Cambridge University Press, Cambridge UK.
- [60] E. Majorana, Theory of the Symmetry of Electrons and Positrons, Nuovo Cim. 14:171-184 (1937).

- [61] H. Fritzsch and P. Minkowski, Unified interactions of leptons and hadrons, Annals Phys. 93:193-266 (1975).
- [62] G. Lazarides, Q. Shafi and C. Wetterich, Proton lifetime and fermion masses in an SO(10) model, Nucl. Phys. B181:287-300 (1981).
- [63] P. Minkowski, mu -> e gamma at a Rate of One Out of 1-Billion Muon Decays?, Phys. Lett. B67:421 (1977); M. Gell-Mann, P. Ramond and R. Slansky in: Supergravity, P. van Nieuwenhuizen, D. Z. Freedman (Eds.), North-Holland, Amsterdam, p. 315 (1979); T. Yanagida, in: Proceedings of the Workshop on the Baryon Number of the Universe and Unified Theories, Tsukuba, Japan 13-14 (1979); S. L. Glasgow, NATO Adv. Study Inst. Ser. B Phys. 59:687 (1979).
- [64] R. N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanovic, Neutrino Mass and Spontaneous Parity Violation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 44:912-915 (1980).
- [65] M. Magg and C. Wetterich, Neutrino mass problem and gauge hierarchy , Phys. Lett. B94:61-64 (1980).
- [66] J. Schechter and J. W. F. Valle, Neutrino masses in SU(2)×U(1) theories, Phys. Rev. D22:2227-2235 (1980).
- [67] C. Wetterich, Neutrino masses and the scale of B-L violation, Nucl. Phys. B187:343-375 (1981).
- [68] G. Lazarides, Q. Shafi and C. Wetterich, Proton lifetime and fermion masses in an SO(10) model, Nucl. Phys. B181:287-300 (1981).
- [69] R. Foot, H. Lew, X. He and G. C. Joshi, See-saw neutrino masses induced by a triplet of leptons, Z. Phys. C44:441-444 (1989).
- [70] E. Ma, Pathways to Naturally Small Neutrino Masses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81:1171-1174 (1998).
- [71] E. Ma and D. P. Roy, *Heavy triplet leptons and new gauge boson*, Nucl. Phys. B644:290-302 (2002).
- [72] Z. Maki, M. Nakagawa and S. Sakata, Remarks on the unified model of elementary particles, Prog. Theor. Phys. 28:870-880 (1962); B. Pontecorvo, Neutrino Experiments and the Problem of Conservation of Leptonic Charge, Sov. Phys. JETP 26:984-988 (1968).

- [73] R. Davis, Jr., D. S. Harmer, and K. C. Hoffman, Search for Neutrinos from the Sun, Phys. Rev. Lett. 20:1205-1209 (1968).
- [74] J. N. Abdurashitov et al., Measurement of the solar neutrino capture rate with gallium metal. III. Results for the 2002-2007 data-taking period, Phys. Rev. C80, 015807 (2009).
- [75] P. Anselmann et al., Solar neutrinos observed by GALLEX at Gran Sasso, Phys. Lett. B285:376-389 (1992); W. Hampel et al., GALLEX solar neutrino observations: results for GALLEX IV, Phys. Lett. B447:127-133 (1999).
- [76] M. Altmann et al., Complete results for five years of GNO solar neutrino observations, Phys. Lett. B616:174-190 (2005).
- [77] K. S. Hirata, Observation of <sup>8</sup>B solar neutrinos in the Kamiokande-II detector, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63:16-19 (1989).
- [78] Super-Kamiokande Collaboration Y. Fukuda et al., Measurements of the Solar Neutrino Flux from Super-Kamiokande's First 300 Days, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81:1158-1162 (1998); J. Hosaka et al., Solar neutrino measurements in Super-Kamiokande-I, Phys. Rev. D73, 112001 (2006).
- [79] SNO Collaboration Q. R. Ahmad et al., Measurement of the Rate of ν<sub>e</sub> + d → p + p + e<sup>-</sup> Interactions Produced by <sup>8</sup>B Solar Neutrinos at the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 071301 (2001); SNO Collaboration Q. R. Ahmad et al., Direct Evidence for Neutrino Flavor Transformation from Neutral-Current Interactions in the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89, 011301 (2002).
- [80] Super-Kamiokande Collaboration Y. Fukuda et al., Evidence for Oscillation of Atmospheric Neutrinos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81:1562-1567 (1998).
- [81] M. Ahn et al., Measurement of neutrino oscillation by the K2K experiment, Phys. Rev. D74, 072003 (2006).
- [82] D. G. Michael et al., Observation of Muon Neutrino Disappearance with the MINOS Detectors in the NuMI Neutrino Beam, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 191801 (2006).

- [83] M. Apollonio et al., Limits on neutrino oscillations from the CHOOZ experiment, Phys. Lett. B466:415-430 (1999); M. Apollonio et al., Search for neutrino oscillations on a long base-line at the CHOOZ nuclear power station, Eur. Phys. J. C27:331-374 (2003).
- [84] F. Boehm et al., Search for Neutrino Oscillations at the Palo Verde Nuclear Reactors, Phys. Rev. Lett. 84:3764-3767 (2000); F. Boehm et al., Final results from the Palo Verde neutrino oscillation experiment, Phys. Rev. D64, 112001 (2001).
- [85] Super-Kamiokande Collaboration J. Hosaka et al., Three flavor neutrino oscillation analysis of atmospheric neutrinos in Super-Kamiokande, Phys. Rev. D74, 032002 (2006).
- [86] B. Aharmim et al., Low-energy-threshold analysis of the Phase I and Phase II data sets of the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory, Phys. Rev. C81, 055504 (2010).
- [87] G. L. Fogli *et al.*, *Hints of*  $\theta_{13} > 0$  *from Global Neutrino Data Analysis*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **101**, 141801 (2008).
- [88] T. Schwetz, M. Tórtola and J. W. F. Valle, *Three-flavour neutrino oscillation update*, New J. Phys. **10**, 113011 (2008).
- [89] M. Flanz, E. A. Paschos and U. Sarkar, Baryogenesis from a lepton asymmetric universe, Phys. Lett. B345:248-252 (1995).
- [90] L. Covi, E. Roulet and F. Vissani, Cp violating decays in leptogenesis scenarios, Phys. Lett. B384:169-174 (1996).
- [91] M. Plümacher, Baryogenesis and lepton number violation, Z. Phys. C74:549-559 (1997).
- [92] W. Buchmüller and M. Plümacher, CP asymmetry in Majorana neutrino decays, Phys. Lett. B431:354-362 (1998).
- [93] W. Buchmüller, P. Di Bari and M. Plümacher, Cosmic microwave background, matter-antimatter asymmetry and neutrino masses, Nucl. Phys. B643:367-390 (2002).

- [94] R. Barbieri, P. Creminelli, A. Strumia and N. Tetradis, *Baryogenesis through leptogenesis*, Nucl. Phys. B575:61-77 (2000).
- [95] W. Buchmüller, P. Di Bari and M. Plümacher, Leptogenesis for pedestrians, Ann. Phys. 315:305-351 (2005).
- [96] E. W. Kolb and M. S. Turner, *The Early Universe*, Addison-Wesley, Redwood City (Calif.) 1990.
- [97] G. F. Giudice, A. Notari, M. Raidal, A. Riotto and A. Strumia, Towards a complete theory of thermal leptogenesis in the SM and MSSM, Nucl. Phys. B685:89-149 (2004).
- [98] A. Pilaftsis and T. E. J. Underwood, *Electroweak-scale resonant lepto-genesis*, Phys. Rev. D72, 113001 (2005).
- [99] E. Nardi, Y. Nir, E. Roulet and J. Racker, The importance of flavor in leptogenesis, JHEP 0601 (2006) 164.
- [100] A. Abada, S. Davidson, F. Josse-Michaux, M. Losada and Antonio Riotto, *Flavour issues in leptogenesis*, JCAP 0604 (2006) 004.
- [101] A. Abada, S. Davidson, A. Ibarra, F. Josse-Michaux, M. Losada and A. Riotto, *Flavour matters in leptogenesis*, JHEP 0609 (2006) 010.
- [102] S. Blanchet and P. Di Bari, Flavor effects on leptogenesis predictions, JCAP 0703 (2007) 018.
- [103] M. Flanz, E. A. Paschos, U. Sarkar and J. Weiss, Baryogenesis through mixing of heavy Majorana neutrinos, Phys. Lett. B389:693-699 (1996).
- [104] L. Covi and E. Roulet, Baryogenesis from mixed particle decays, Phys. Lett. B399:113-118 (1997).
- [105] A. Pilaftsis, CP violation and baryogenesis due to heavy Majorana neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D56:5431-5451 (1997); A. Pilaftsis, Heavy Majorana neutrinos and baryogenesis, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A14:1811-1857 (1999).
- [106] A. Pilaftsis and T. E. J. Underwood, *Resonant leptogenesis*, Nucl. Phys. B692:303-345 (2004).

- [107] A. Anisimov, A. Broncano and M. Plümacher, *The CP-asymmetry in resonant leptogenesis*, Nucl. Phys. B737:176-189 (2006).
- [108] G. Nordström, On the possibility of unifying the electromagnetic and the gravitational fields, Phys. Z. 15:504-506 (1914), arXiv:physics/0702221.
- [109] T. Kaluza, On the Problem of Unity in Physics, Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) p. 966-972 (1921).
- [110] O. Klein, Quantum Theory and Five-Dimensional Theory of Relativity, Z. Phys. 37:895-906 (1926).
- [111] E. Witten, Strong coupling expansion of Calabi-Yau compactification, Nucl. Phys. B471:135-158 (1996).
- [112] P. Horava and E. Witten, Heterotic and type I string dynamics from eleven-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B460:506-524; P. Horava and E. Witten, Eleven-dimensional supergravity on a manifold with boundary, Nucl. Phys. B475:94-114 (1996).
- [113] A. Pérez-Lorenzana, An Introduction to Extra Dimensions, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 18:224-269 (2005); A. Pérez-Lorenzana, Theories in more than four dimensions, AIP Conf. Proc. 562:53-85 (2001).
- [114] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos and G. Dvali, *The hierarchy prob*lem and new dimensions at a millimeter, Phys. Lett. B429:263-272 (1998).
- [115] I. Antoniadis, N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, G. Dvali, New dimensions at a millimeter to a fermi and superstrings at a TeV, Phys. Lett. B436:257-263 (1998).
- [116] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos and G. Dvali, *Phenomenology, astrophysics, and cosmology of theories with submillimeter dimensions and TeV scale quantum gravity*, Phys. Rev. D59, 086004 (1999).
- [117] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, Large Mass Hierarchy from a Small Extra Dimension, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83:3370-3373 (1999).

- [118] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, An Alternative to Compactification, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83:4690-4693 (1999).
- [119] G. F. Giudice, R. Rattazzi and J. D. Wells, Quantum gravity and extra dimensions at high-energy colliders, Nucl. Phys. B544:3-38 (1999).
- [120] T. Han, J. D. Lykken and R. Zhang, Kaluza-Klein states from extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D59, 105006 (1999).
- [121] E. A. Mirabelli, M. Perelstein and M. E. Peskin, Collider Signatures of New Large Space Dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82:2236-2239 (1999).
- [122] S. Nussinov and R. Shrock, Some remarks on theories with large compact dimensions and TeV-scale quantum gravity, Phys. Rev. D59, 105002 (1999).
- [123] C. Balazs, D. A. Dicus, H. He, W. W. Repko and C. Yuan, Collider Tests of Compact Space Dimensions Using Weak Gauge Bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83:2112-2115 (1999).
- [124] J. L. Hewett, Indirect Collider Signals for Extra Dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82:4765-4768 (1999).
- [125] T. G. Rizzo, More and more indirect signals for extra dimensions at more and more colliders, Phys. Rev. D59, 115010 (1999).
- [126] K. Agashe and N. G. Deshpande, Limits on low scale gravity from  $e^+e^- \rightarrow W^+W^-$ , ZZ and  $\gamma\gamma$ , Phys. Lett. B456:60-67 (1999).
- [127] K. Cheung and W. Y. Keung, Direct signals of low scale gravity at  $e^+e^-$  colliders, Phys. Rev. D**60**, 112003 (1999).
- [128] G. F. Giudice, R. Rattazzi and J. D. Wells, Graviscalars from higher-dimensional metrics and curvature-Higgs mixing, Nucl. Phys. B595:250-276 (2001).
- [129] S. B. Giddings and S. Thomas, *High energy colliders as black hole factories: The end of short distance physics*, Phys. Rev. D65, 056010 (2002).
- [130] S. Dimopoulos and G. Landsberg, Black Holes at the Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 161602 (2001).

- [131] E.G. Adelberger, B.R. Heckel and A.E. Nelson, Tests of the gravitational inverse-square law, Ann. Rev. Nucl. and Part. Sci. 53:77-121 (2003).
- [132] D. J. Kapner, T. S. Cook, E. G. Adelberger, J. H. Gundlach, B. R. Heckel, C. D. Hoyle and H. E. Swanson, *Tests of the Gravitational Inverse-Square Law below the Dark-Energy Length Scale*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 021101 (2007).
- [133] S. Hannestad and G. G. Raffelt, Stringent Neutron-Star Limits on Large Extra Dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88, 071301 (2002).
- [134] C. Hanhart, J. A. Pons, D. R. Phillips and S. Reddy, The likelihood of GODs' existence: improving the SN 1987a constraint on the size of large compact dimensions, Phys. Lett. B509:1-9 (2001).
- [135] S. Hannestad and G. G. Raffelt, New Supernova Limit on Large Extra Dimensions: Bounds on Kaluza-Klein Graviton Production, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 051301 (2001).
- [136] K. R. Dienes, E. Dudas and T. Gherghetta, Extra spacetime dimensions and unification, Phys. Lett. B436:55-65 (1998).
- [137] K. R. Dienes, E. Dudas and T. Gherghetta, Grand unification at intermediate mass scales through extra dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B537:47-108 (1999).
- [138] A. Delgado, A Pomarol and M. Quirós, Electroweak and flavor physics in extensions of the standard model with large extra dimensions, JHEP 0001 (2000) 030.
- [139] A. Pomarol and M. Quirós, The Standard model from extra dimensions, Phys. Lett. B438:255-260 (1998).
- [140] I. Antoniadis, S. Dimopoulos, A. Pomarol and M. Quirós, Soft masses in theories with supersymmetry breaking by TeV compactification, Nucl. Phys. B544:503-519 (1999).
- [141] A. Delgado, A. Pomarol and M. Quirós, Supersymmetry and electroweak breaking from extra dimensions at the TeV scale, Phys Rev. D60, 096005 (1999).

- [142] C. D. Carone, Electroweak constraints on extended models with extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D61, 015008 (2000).
- [143] E. A. Mirabelli and M. E. Peskin, Transmission of supersymmetry breaking from a four-dimensional boundary, Phys. Rev. D58, 065002 (1998).
- [144] Z. Kakushadze, Novel extension of MSSM and 'TeV scale' coupling unification, Nucl. Phys. B548:205-230 (1999).
- [145] N. Arkani-Hamed and M. Schmaltz, *Hierarchies without symmetries from extra dimensions*, Phys. Rev. D61, 033005 (2000).
- [146] N. Arkani-Hamed, Y. Grossman and M. Schmaltz, Split fermions in extra dimensions and expoentially small cross sections at future colliders, Phys. Rev. D61, 115004 (2000).
- [147] E. A. Mirabelli and M. Schmaltz, Yukawa hierarchies from split fermions in extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D61, 113011 (2000).
- [148] K. R. Dienes, E. Dudas and T. Gherghetta, Light neutrinos without heavy mass scales: a higher-dimensional seesaw mechanism, Nucl. Phys. B557:25-59 (1999).
- [149] G. R. Dvali and A. Y. Smirnov, Probing large extra dimensions with neutrinos, Nucl. Phys. B563:63-81 (1999).
- [150] N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dimopoulos, G. R. Dvali and J. March-Russell, Neutrino masses from large extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D65, 024032 (2002).
- [151] A. E. Faraggi and M. Pospelov, Phenomenological issues in TeV scale gravity with light neutrino masses, Phys. Lett. B458:237-244 (1999).
- [152] A. Das and O. C. W. Kong, On neutrino masses and mixings from extra dimensions, Phys. Lett. B470:149-156 (1999).
- [153] R. N. Mohapatra, S. Nandi and A. Pérez-Lorenzana, Neutrino masses and oscillations in models with large extra dimensions, Phys. Lett. B466:115-121 (1999).

- [154] R. N. Mohapatra and A. Pérez-Lorenzana, Sterile neutrino as a bulk neutrino, Nucl. Phys. B576:466-478 (2000).
- [155] R. N. Mohapatra and A. Pérez-Lorenzana, Three flavour neutrino oscillations in models with large extra dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B593:451-470 (2001).
- [156] A. Ioannisian and J. W. F. Valle, Light sterile neutrino from extra dimensions and four neutrino solutions to neutrino anomalies, Phys. Rev. D63, 073002 (2001).
- [157] R. Barbieri, P. Creminelli and A. Strumia, Neutrino oscillations and large extra dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B585:28-44 (2000).
- [158] E. Ma, M. Raidal and U. Sarkar, Verifiable model of neutrino masses from large extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85:3769-3772 (2000).
- [159] E. Ma, G. Rajasekaran and U. Sarkar, Light sterile neutrinos from large extra dimensions, Phys. Lett. B495:363-368 (2000).
- [160] A. Lukas, P. Ramond, A. Romanino and G. G. Ross, Solar neutrino oscillation from large extra dimensions, Phys. Lett. B495:136-146 (2000).
- [161] A. Lukas, P. Ramond, A. Romanino and G. G. Ross, Neutrino Masses and Mixing in Brane-World Theories, JHEP04 (2001) 010.
- [162] D. O. Caldwell, R. N. Mohapatra and S. J. Yellin, Large Extra Dimensions, Sterile Neutrinos and Solar Neutrino Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87, 041601 (2001).
- [163] D. O. Caldwell, R. N. Mohapatra and S. J. Yellin, New fit to solar neutrino data in models with large extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 64, 073001 (2001).
- [164] A. De Gouvea, G. F. Giudice, A. Strumia and K. Tobe, *Phenomeno-logical implications of neutrinos in extra dimensions*, Nucl. Phys. B623:395-420 (2002).
- [165] J. L. Hewett, P. Roy and S. Roy, Higher dimensional models of light Majorana neutrinos confronted by data, Phys. Rev. D70, 051903 (2004).

- [166] Q.-H. Cao, S. Gopalakrishna and C.-P. Yuan, Constraints on large extra dimensions with bulk neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D69, 115003 (2004).
- [167] H. Davoudiasl, P. Langacker and S. Perelstein, Constraints on large extra dimensions from neutrino oscillation experiments, Phys. Rev. D65, 105015 (2002).
- [168] R. N. Mohapatra and A. Y. Smirnov, Neutrino Mass and New Physics, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 56:569-628 (2006).
- [169] E. G. Gimon and J. Polchinski, Consistency conditions for orientifolds and d manifolds, Phys. Rev. D54:1667-1676 (1996).
- [170] G. Dvali and M. A. Shifman, Families as neighbors in extra dimension, Phys. Lett. B475:295-302 (2000).
- [171] H. Georgi, A. K. Grant and G. Hailu, *Chiral fermions, orbifolds, scalars, and fat branes*, Phys. Rev. D63, 064027 (2001).
- [172] D. E. Kaplan and T. M. P. Tait, New Tools for Fermion Masses from Extra Dimensions, JHEP 0111 (2001) 051.
- [173] Y. Nagatani and G. Perez, Leptogenesis from split fermions, JHEP 0502 (2005) 068.
- [174] G. Barenboim, G. C. Branco, A. de Gouvea and M. N. Rebelo, Neutrino masses and lepton flavor violation in thick brane scenarios, Phys. Rev. D64, 073005 (2001).
- [175] G. C. Branco, A. de Gouvea and M. N. Rebelo, Split fermions in extra dimensions and CP violation, Phys. Lett. B506:115-122 (2001).
- [176] H. V. Klapdor-Kleingrothaus and U. Sarkar, Majorana neutrinos with split fermions in extra dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B541:332-337 (2002).
- [177] Y. Grossman and G. Perez, *Realistic construction of split fermion models*, Phys. Rev. D67, 015011 (2003).
- [178] K. R. Dienes and S. Hossenfelder, A Hybrid Model of Neutrino Masses and Oscillations: Bulk Neutrinos in the Split-Fermion Scenario, Phys. Rev. D74, 065013 (2006).

- [179] A. Pilaftsis, Leptogenesis in theories with large extra dimensions, Phys. Rev. D60, 105023 (1999).
- [180] M. Maltoni and T. Schwetz, Sterile neutrino oscillations after first MiniBooNE results, Phys. Rev. D76, 093005 (2007).
- [181] J. Hamann, S. Hannestad, G. G. Raffelt, I. Tamborra and Y. Y. Y. Wong, Cosmology Favoring Extra Radiation and Sub-eV Mass Sterile Neutrinos as an Option, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 181301 (2010).
- [182] J. D. Lykken, Introduction to supersymmetry, hep-ph/961211.
- [183] M. Dine, Supersymmetry Phenomenology (With a Broad Brush), hepph/9612389.
- [184] G. R. Farrar and P. Fayet, Phenomenology of the production, decay, and detection of new hadronic states associated with supersymmetry, Phys. Lett. B76:575-579 (1978).
- [185] S. Dimopoulos and H. Georgi, Softly Broken Supersymmetry and SU(5), Nucl. Phys. B193:150-162 (1981).
- [186] S. Weinberg, Supersymmetry at ordinary energies. Masses and conservation laws, Phys. Rev. D26:287-302 (1982).
- [187] N. Sakai and T. Yanagida, Proton decay in a class of supersymmetric grand unified models, Nucl. Phys. B197:533-542 (1982).
- [188] S. Dimopoulos, S. Raby, F. Wilczek, Proton decay in supersymmetric models, Phys. Lett. B112:133-136 (1982).
- [189] H. Goldberg, Constraint on the Photino Mass from Cosmology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 50:1419-1422 (1983).
- [190] J. Ellis, J. S. Hagelin, D. V. Nanopoulos, K. Olive and M. Srednicki, Supersymmetric relics from the big bang, Nucl. Phys. B238:453-476 (1984).
- [191] L. O'Raifeartaigh, Spontaneous symmetry breaking for chirals scalar superfields, Nucl. Phys. B96:331-352 (1975).

- [192] P. Fayet and J. Iliopoulos, Spontaneously broken supergauge symmetries and goldstone spinors, Phys. Lett. B51:461-464 (1974).
- [193] P. Fayet, Supergauge invariant extension of the Higgs mechanism and a model for the electron and its neutrino, Nucl. Phys. B90:104-124 (1975).
- [194] Y. Grossman, T. Kashti, Y. Nir and E. Roulet, Leptogenesis from Supersymmetry Breaking, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91, 251801 (2003).
- [195] G. D'Ambrosio, G. F. Giudice and M. Raidal, Soft leptogenesis, Phys. Lett. B575:75-84 (2003).
- [196] S. Davidson and A. Ibarra, A lower bound on the right-handed neutrino mass from leptogenesis, Phys. Lett. B535:25-32 (2002).
- [197] K. S. Babu, Y. Meng and Z. Tavartkiladze, New ways to leptogenesis with gauged B-L symmetry, Phys. Lett. B681:37-43 (2009).
- [198] J. Ellis, Prospects for New Physics at the LHC, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A25:2409-2420 (2010).
- [199] D. E. Kaplan, M. A. Luty and K. M. Zurek, Asymmetric dark matter, Phys. Rev. D79, 115016 (2009) and references therein.
- [200] A. Falkowski, J. T. Ruderman and T. Volansky, Asymmetric dark matter from leptogenesis, JHEP 1105 (2011) 106.